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The Corporate Executive Board provides best practices research, decision-support tools,
and executive education to a membership of the world’s leading corporations and not-for-
profit institutions. Our research addresses issues related to corporate strategy, operations,
and general management, and we focus on identifying management initiatives, processes,
tools, and frameworks that will allow our clients to avoid reinventing the wheel in addressing
problems they share in common with their peers. At its best, our work is able to shape
strategic debate and to accelerate tactical implementation in even the most progressive
organizations.

We provide research and analysis on an annual subscription basis to a membership of more than
3,700 of the world's largest and most prestigious organizations. For a fixed annual fee, members
of each subscription program have access to an integrated set of services, including the
following:

Best practices research studies
* Decision-support tools

Executive education seminars

Customized research briefs

Web-based access to program content database

QOurbusiness formula combines shared-cost research economics and a membership-based client
model, allowing us to provide data and insight at the quality standard of the premier strategy
consulting firms but at a fraction of the cost. The formula also creates a closed loop for
research. Each year, our clients develop a list of their most pressing business problems and
then serve as case studies in our best practices research on these issues. We are guided
by a strong sense of stewardship for our members’ confidences and financial contributions,
and we strive in each interaction to achieve a level of service that is unparalleled in their
commercial experience.
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To Our Shareholders

Once again, it is my great privilege
to report to you the accomplish-
ments of the Corporate Executive
Board (EXBD) team across 2006.
Aspromised, weachievedall of our
annual commitments for the year,
turning in 27% top-line growth
and successfully launching six new

.
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membership programs. We are
comrmitting to a target of 20% top-line growth for 2007 and
are confident in our ability to continue to execute against
the vast organic market opportunity ahead of us.

Qur ability to deliver against the 2006 promise, as in prior
years, is the result of a combination of strong products, a
solid underlyingbusiness model,and effective executionand
innovation by a highly talented workforce. Across the year,
our established membership programs continued to grow
in line with expectations, and our new program launches
enjoyed very gratifying market acceptance as we introduced
EXBD value to new constituencies across the corporation.

We are honored to serve a diverse global membership of se-
nior executives and are committed to increasing the value
we deliver to member organizations every year. In this letter,
I would like to call out for you some of the signal accom-
plishments of the past vear in service to the membership
and to share our priorities for the year ahead.

Continued Strong Financial Performance

In all our communications with shareholders, we have em-
phasized our intention to build in the Corporate Executive
Board a more predictable, more scalable growth company.
In 2006, for the eighth straight year since our IPO, we de-
livered well against this standard. Revenue grew to $460.6
million in 2006, from $362.2 million in 2005—a 27.2% in-
crease. Net income for 2006 rose to $79.2 million, from
$75.1 million in 2005. Earnings per diluted share increased
t0 $1.94in 2006, from $1.83 in 2005. Operating margin, ad-
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and Cash Flow from Operations*
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* Adjusted presentations are not prepared in accordanee with Generalfy Acceplad
Accounting Principles {“GAAP”]. See puge 6 for o reconciliation of GAAP to
odjusted presentations.

justed for $25.3 million in share-based compensation ex-
pense arising from the adoption of FAS 123(R}, continued
to improve in 2006, to 28.2%, underscoring the operating
leverage inherent in our business model and distinguish-
ing us from most other professional service firms. Adjust-
ed net income increased 26.2% to $94.7 million in 2006,
from $75.1 million in 2005. Cash flow from operations, ex-
cluding excess tax benefits from share-based compensation
and changes in deferred income taxes, net, was $143.4 mil-
lion, consistent with guidance of operating cash flow equal
to 1.5 times adjusted net income. Adjusted earnings per di-
luted share increased to $2.33 in 2006, from $1.83 in 2005,
A reconciliation of EXBD'’s reported and adjusted results is
set forth in Selected Financial Data.

66\ all our communications with shareholders,

we have emphasized our intention to build
in the Corporate Executive Board a more
predictable, more scalable growth compcnz}()')

This financial performance also allowed us to demonstrate
our ongoing commitment to return excess cash to share-
holders in a tax-effective manner. To that end, in February
2007, the Board of Directors increased our quarterly divi-
dend to 40 cents per share and authorized additional share
repurchases for up to $200 million.

Looking ahead to 2007: While 20% revenue growth is cer-
tainly a healthy growth rate for a company of our size, it is
lower than our 2006 revenue growth rate, and I'd like to
spend a moment explaining the two drivers of this lower
commitment level. First, we exited our HR metrics business
across the fourth quarter of 2006, assigning contracts to our
partner but retaining rights to the data assets that this busi-
ness generates. This transition was the right decision for our
customers, shareholders, and staff, and I'm very proud of
the team that executed this transition. Second, we saw new
sales—both in the form of cross-sales and new names to
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the membership list—return to their original target ranges
after trending above across the year. In reviewing our per-
formance in the quarter, we did see some opportunities for
improvement on execution (particularly in how we make
new sales people productive quickly), but we also saw a
continued clear path to our $5 billion market opportunity.
With the visibility inherent in our business model, we have
a high degree of confidence in our ability to hit our 2007
commitments as a first step on this path.

Stamping Out the EXBD Formula

We launched six new research programs across the year, five
of which targetour Global 4,200 large corporate market. Each
of these five programs focuses on the most pressing needs
of a senior executive constituency in leading corporations,
financial institutions, and not-for-profit organizations.

66ur 2006 launches are all growing rapidly
across their inaugural year of service, and
investors should spot in them a powerful
affirmation of the extensibility of the EXBD
business model deep into the corporatiorpg)

We announced the launch of the Project Management Of-
fice Executive Council at the start of 2006, and across the
year,weadded the Investor Relations Roundtable, the Enter-
prise Architecture Executive Council, the Quality Executive
Board, and the Sales Operations Excellence Center. These
programs are all growing rapidly across their inaugural year
of service, and investors should spot in them a powerful af-
firmation of the extensibility of the EXBD business mod-
el deep into the corporation. In developing the agenda and
service charter for each of these programs, we were guided
by input from an existing member constituency, typically
the seniormost executive to whom the function reports. In
IT, for example, the CIO’s input was essential in guiding the
Project Management Office and Enterprise Architecture of-
ferings; in Finance, the CFO’s agenda is reflected in our aims

for the Investor Relations Roundtable. As you would imag-
ine, our value to the C1O and CFO grows as we gain further
technical depth and help them expand their “peripheral vi-
sion” by summarizing and monitoring trends deep in their
organization charts.

G&Ve are gratified by the early and
enthusiastic acceptance we have received
in our middle market offerings and are
confident that this early success points to the
tremendous additional growth opportunity

represented by this vast morket)9

Building Momentum in the Middle Market

Thelast program of the six, the Finance Leadership Exchange,
is notable not just for its fast ramp, but also because of its
strategic interest to EXBD and investors. As our second suc-
cessful program launch into the middle market—which we
define as those 10,000+ companies in North America and
Europe with between $100 million and $750 million in an-
nual revenue—it further confirms the relevance of the EXBD
value proposition to, and our ability to reach, this large and
highly promising market. Finance executives in the mid-
dle market, while running smaller organizations than their
counterparts in our traditional Global 4,200 large corporate
market, are no less in need of insight into proven practice
and opportunities to network with knowledgeable peers. In
our first year of service to the middle market finance com-
munity, our members have directed us to focus on some of
the key challenges they face: avoiding the common pitfalls
in postmerger integration; controlling escalating IT-related
costs; managing investor relations time spend; and planning
for global growth. We are gratified by the early and enthu-
slastic acceptance we have received in this second middle
market offering and are confident that this early success
points to the tremendous additional growth opportunity
for EXBD represented by this vast global market.

The Expanding Reach of the Corporate Executive Board ==

10 Practice Areas
43 Membership Programs
50 Countries
3,700 Client Companies
14,200 Program Subscriptions

260,000 Participating Executives

* EXBD siaff created and delivered record levels of content to our
clients last year with 240 new best practices studies, more than
43,500 fastcycle projects, more than 700 membership meetings,
and more than 7,000 onsite executive education sessions.

We also expanded the membership network, adding more than
Q00 new client companies and more than 3,300 new program
subscriptions.

Across the year, we presented our work io more than 260,000
executives in a variety of meeting formats —no other organization
we know of comes close 1o this level of senior executive
penetration at the largest companies in the world.




=== Disciplined Execution on Our Core Growth Plan ==

Core Growth Plan
As of December 2006

$5.0 Billion+ Market Opportunity

Product Lines

Planned Rellouts

43 Existing Programs

Current | More Than $1.4 Bilion 3
Members Current Cross-Selt
{~3,700) Opportunity
Customer
Universe

immedicte [
Prospects [
{~11,400) yB

7 .6% Penelration
of $5.0 Billion
Market Opportunity

Tight Focus on Our $5 Billion
Growth Opportunity

Shareholders familiar with our core growth strategy are aware
that we focus on disciplined execution against a $5 billion,
immediately addressable organic growth opportunity. Our
operating plan for realizing this opportunity includes three
principal elements: cross-selling additional membership
programs to existing members; introducing new members
to their first program; and creating new products from the
list of more than 100 concepts maintained by our new busi-
ness development function. Execution against this organ-
ic opportunity alone would allow us to grow to roughly 10
times our current size. Well before we approach that $5 bil-
lion boundary, we will have opened up new opportunities
for the firm, either in the form of new markets such as Asia
or new value propositions which extend well beyond the 15
to 20 new programs the $5 billion model assumes.

The launch of five new programs into the Global 4,200 large
corporate market and a sixth into the middle market is at
the high end of the target range we announced at the start
of the year, For 2007, we are targeting an additional six to
seven new product launches. As always, we will continue to
discover and pursue growth opportunities with the disci-
pline we have demonstrated to date, favoring adjacent, or-
ganic growth consistent with our business model.

Retaining and Deepening

Member Relationships

As much as our strong financial performance and growth
marked the year, 2006 was again notable for the retention
and deepening of our relationships with member institu-
tions. Qur institutional renewal rate remained extreme-

* The EXBD management team is tighily focused on the

three principal elements of our core growth plan: cross-
selling additional membership programs lo existing clients;
introducing new client companies 1o their first membership
program; and creating new products from the list of more
than 100 concepts maintained by our New Business
Development function.

In 2006, we signiticantly expanded the organic growth
horizons of the company, increasing the set of new program
opportunities availeble to us in our Global 4,200 market and
extending to our second membership program for the vast
middle market population of companies.

We believe that our track record of launch success in the
Global 4,200 market represents powerful affirmation of the
extensibility of our business model deep into the corporation;
and it combines with the demand for our service offerings
among middle market clients to constitute an immediately
addressable $5 billion erganic growth opportunity.

ly high at 92%, once again attesting to the fundamental
strength of the EXBD membership value proposition. Our
cross-selling efforts—the average number of subscriptions
per member institution—rose from 3.91 to 4.15 in our tra-
ditional large company market. With the advent of a sec-
ond program serving the middle market, cross-sales in this
new area rose to 1.1.

6o other organization we know of
comes close to our level of senior
executive penetration at the largest
companies in the worléﬁ‘9

We created and delivered record levels of content to our
clients last year: 240 new full-length best practices studies,
more than 43,500 fast-cycle projects, more than 700 in-per-
son membership meetings, more than 1,500 teleconferences,
and more than 7,000 on-site executive education sessions,
reaching in excess of 260,000 executives.

EXBD's deep penetration into the executive ranks of mem-
ber institutions is an important measure of our perceived
value to the current and future leaders of these organiza-
tions. From this perspective, here is how to think of the ex-
panding reach of the Corporate Executive Board: 10 practice
areas encompassing 43 membership programs involving
more than 3,700 client institutions across 14,200 program
subscriptions, with direct impact on 260,000 executives.
No other organization we know of comes close to this lev-
el of senior executive penetration at the largest companies
in the world.




The Power of Membership
in the World’s Premier Network

An important aspect of our growth for investors to appre-
ciate is not just the size and reach of our member network,
but the capability this scale offers us to deliver unique prod-
ucts and perspectives to our members. At present, the EXBD
membership network, comprising 3,700 member compa-
nies, includes executives from 80% of the Fortune 500 and
70% of the FT 100 companies. Our target market is respon-
sible for approximately 75% of global GDP. For the busy se-
nior executive, we are the obvious choice for learning about
globalbest practices and for networking with his or her most
progressive peers.

669% present, our membership network,
comprising 3,700 member companies,
includes executives from 80% of the Fortune
500 and 70% of the FT 100 companies.
Our target market is responsible for

approximately 75% of global GD}P}\9

A great recent example of the unique power of Corporate
Executive Board membership can be seen in work complet-
ed across the past year by our Corporate Leadership Coun-
cil, which serves chief human resources officers worldwide.
At the direction of the membership, we conducted a global
survey on the keys to attracting and retaining critical high-
skill talent—globally as well as in the particular “hot” talent
markets of China and India. In fact, The Economic Times,
India’s leading business newspaper, recently devoted page
one coverage to this work and to its implications for lead-
ing Indian employers.

Through a global survey of more than 58,000 respondents
from more than 90 companies in 20 countries, we identified
the attributes most important to success and how those at-
tributes shift across geography, industry, and demographic
segments, Armed with thisknowledge, our membersare able
to improve their competitiveness by reducing (by up to half)
the compensation premium they must offer to attract new
staff; by sourcing their new recruits from a deeper, higher-
quality talent pool; and by increasing the performance and
retention characteristics of this high-skill population.

Strategic Priorities for Management in 2007
With an established business model, an ambitious growth
plan, and a $5 billion organic growth opportunity, the Cor-
porate Executive Board management team will remain tight-
ly focused across 2007 on four strategic priorities:

1. Addingnewsubscribers to existing research programs. New
subscribers join us in the form of cross-sales to existing
client companies and first sales to new companies—both
of which achieved their respective target ranges for 2006.

2. Continuing our focus on new product development as
we stamp out the EXBD formula across new functions
and constituencies in the large corporation and into the
middle market customer base. We plan to launch six to
seven new programs this year and to sustain the mo-
mentum of our great 2006 launches.

3. Producing leading-edge tools and content that ensure
tremendous ROI through powerful, actionable insights
on the most significant challenges facing senior exec-
utives in our memberships. Beyond the core research
product, we also continue to invest to create decision-
support tools,benchmarking databases, peer-to-peer on-
line exchange, and other enhancements that strengthen
the value of our network and embed us ever more deep-
ly into our members’ workflows.

4. Recruiting, developing, and retaining the talent we need
to support our growth ambitions and the development
ambitions of our extraordinary workforce. We enjoy very
high career-staff retention rates and typically see more
than 80% of candidates accept their offer to join us. In
2007, we will work relentlessly to ensure that the Corpo-
rate Executive Board continues to be a compelling des-
tination for the world’s top research, service, and sales
talent in all the geographies in which we operate.

In Appreciation

Let me close with a statement of personal appreciation to
the Corporate Executive Board’s nearly 2,300 staff members
spread across three continents. | know that they share our
executive team’s passion for continuing to build the mem-
bership network, and for leveraging that expanded mem-
ber network to improve the performance of our member
executives and their companies. It is their energy, commit-
ment, and talent that ultimately give us great comfort in
our ability to achieve our short-term objectives and to re-
alize our long-term strategy.

With our strong management team, deep bench of talent,
unparalleled member network of leading corporations,and
sizable organic growth opportunity ahead of us, we believe
we have an unmatched opportunity to create extraordinary
value for member organizations, fantastic careers for our
people, and distinguished returns for EXBD shareholders.

As ever, we appreciate the trust you have placed in us over
the years, and we are grateful for your continuing support
of our efforts and mission.

Thomas L. Monahan Il
Chief Executive Officer




SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The foliowing table sets forth selected financial and operating data. The selected financial data presented below have been derived
from our consolidated financial statements that were audited by our independent registered public accounting firm. You should
read the selected financial data presented below in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, the notes to our
consolidated financial statements and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(In thousands, except per-share amounts)

Consclidated Statements of Income Data

REVENUES ... s 9 162,357 $ 210,211 $ 280,724 $ 362,226 $ 460,623
Costs and expenses;
Cost 0 SEIVICES (1} v e s et aesens 56,490 71,049 91,469 120,944 164,022
Member relations and marketing (1) .. 40,916 55,306 75,560 93,657 122,177
General and administrative (1) ..nninninniinnn, 17,670 21,666 31,254 40,295 59,629
Depreciation and amortization.....nninon, 5,456 5,764 6,782 7,308 10,381
Non-cash lease restructuring costs ... —_ — 5,210 — —
Total costs and expenses . 120,532 153,785 210,275 262,204 356,209
INCOMIE fTOM OPEFAONS cecerreeercecercrenercsenesssesesssensessesesses 41,825 56,426 70,449 100,022 104,414
Other INCOME, NEL ..nevrrrerreserensrrcessreeirsnsirsairsesirensirsnsiressiscsssaees 6,346 7,569 9,936 13,588 24,318
Income before provision for INCOME tAXES .ceemreecmemrecerirrensae 48,171 63,995 80,385 113,610 128,732
Provision for income taxes 18,570 28,307 26,729 38,550 49,561
Net income. $ 29,601 $ 35,688 $ 53,656 $ 75,060 $ 79,171
Earnings per share—basic $ 08l $ 096 $ 1.40 $ 1.90 3 1.99
Weighted average shares outstanding—basic.......cveverevcrmrmrene 36,722 37,296 38,344 39,572 39,712
Farnings per share—diluted $ 079 $ 093 $ 1.34 $ 1.83 3 1.94
Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted ...overvvrvermrernne. 37,671 38,577 39,925 41,092 40,721
Cash dividends declared per common share.....oeoeecereecnreecnnenes $ —_ $ —_ $ 030 $ 040 $ 120
Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(In thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities .....cooocovonenees $ 225,941 $ 293,919 $ 416,977 $ 544,636 $ 487,287
Deferred income taxes ....... 59,726 37,673 29,587 14,838 28,005
Total assets........oue........ 359,581 423,482 578,451 726,995 736,055
Deferred revenues ............... 121,415 154,844 205,494 261,300 308,671
Total stockholders’ equity .......... 213,357 241,993 327,461 385,414 317,865
Year Ended December 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Other Operating Data (Unaudited)
Membership programs (2) 22 26 31 37 42
Member institutions............. 1,930 2,143 2,368 2,831 3,739
Total membership subscriptions............... 5,257 6,414 8,202 10,825 14,190
Average subscriptions per member institution

(cross-sell ratio} (3} .vvviiniiiennes 2.72 2.99 3.46 3.82 3.80
Client renewal rate (4)..........cceen.ee.. 90% 90% 91% 92% 92%

Contract value (in thousands)} (5) ...cocvvvvvviverrvinnrssrersnsesassass $ 176,533 $ 227,913 $ 204,949 $ 381,366 $ 475,653



Notes to Selected Financial Data and Operating Data

(1) In 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006, we recognized $0.7 million, $0.1 million, $0.4 million, $0.5 million and $1.9 million,
respectively, in compensation expense reflecting additional Federal Insurance Corporation Act (“FICA”) taxes as a result
of the taxable income that employees recognized upon the exercise of nonqualified common stock options, primarily in
conjunction with the registered public offerings in March 2002 and 2003, and May 2004, and the sales that were exempt from
registration in March 2005 and 2006. We have recorded such expenses in the same expense line iterns as other compensation
paid to the relevant categories of employees as follows: Cost of services, $0.3 million, $0.1 million, $0.2 million, $0.3 million
and $0.8 million, Member relations and marketing, $0.2 million, $0.0 million, $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.3 miilion,
and General and administrative, $0.2 million, $0.0 million, $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.8 million in 2002, 2003, 2004,
2005 and 2006, respectively.

(2) InFebruary 2007, we launched the Data Center Operations Council, bringing the current number of membership programs
to 43,

(3) Excluding the impact of the middle market cross-sell ratio of 1.0 and 1.1 in 2005 and 2006, respectively, the traditional large
company cross-sell ratio was 3.91 and 4.15 in 2005 and 2006, respectively.

(4) For the year then ended. Client renewal rate is defined as the percentage of member institutions renewed, adjusted to reflect
reductions in member institutions resulting from mergers and acquisitions of members.

(5) For the year then ended. Contract value is defined as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to all agreements in effect
at a given date without regard to the remaining duration of any such agreement,

Reconciliation of GAAP to Adjusted Presentation

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

% of S of % of % of % of
in Annual in Annual in Annual in Annual in Annual
Thousands Revenue Thousands Revenue Thousands Revenue Thousands Revenue Thousands Revenue

Adjusted Operating Margin*

Income from operations ........ $ 41,825 258% $§ 56,426 26.8% $ 70,449 25.1% % 100,022 27.6% 3% 104,414 22.7%

Stock option and related

(5. 012 11— 668 0.4% — — —_ —_ — —_ 23,306 5.5%

Non-cash lease restructuring

€OStS, NEt Of 1aX . cevcrrrrcrrcrrerrcnne — — — — 5,210 1.9% — — — —

Adjusted operatin

MATBIN. i $ 42,493 26.2% § 56,426 268% § 75,659 27.0% § 100,022 27.6% § 129,720 28.2%
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Adjusted Net Income (in thousands)*

INETINCOME cooe e v s cie e sressrsersarsatsersersersensenins . % 20601 $ 35688 3 53,656 § 75060 § 79,171

Stock option and related expenses, net of 1ax Benefit ..o 410 — — - 15,563

Adjustment for change in tax status....onn — 8,192 — — —

Non-cash lease restructuting costs, Net 0f 1aX ..o s — — 3,478 — —

AJUSIEA NET IMCOMIE oooererercereeeee et srermer e e sm s st ee et ned sessessesaessessesshsenacn $ 30,001 $ 43,880 $ 57,134 § 75060 § 94,734
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

Adjusted Cash Flow from Operations (in thousands}
Cash flow from 0perations ..o § 77,873 $ 88,695 $118,698 $181,469 $136,271
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation ..., —_ — — — 41,225

Deferred income taxes, net (18,439) {27,171} (24,373) (30,801} {34,139}

$ 59434 § 61,524 § 94,325 § 150,668 §143,357

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Adjusted Earnings per Diluted Share*
Earnings per share—diluted ... e s e s s rraness $ 079 $ 093 $§ 134 5 183 $§ 194
Per share effect of stock option and related expenses, net of tax benefit ......cccocvreerevevnresenns 0.01 — — — 0.39
Per share effect of adjustment for change in tax Status .........oooevcrevrrervereevnsens . — 0.21 — — —
Non-cash lease restructuring costs, net of tax . — — 0.09 — —
Adjusted earnings per share—diluted.........oovrrrccrccrscrscmscrsssssrcrs s rsressessesse . $ 080 % 114 % 143 0§ 183 5 233

* Adjusted presentations for the year ended 2002 exclude stock option and related expenses and are not prepared in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).



MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We provide “best practices” research, decision support tools and executive education focusing on corporate strategy, operations
and general management issues. Best practices research supports senior executive decision making by identifying and analyzing
specific management initiatives, processes and strategies that have been determined to produce the best results in solving common
business problems or challenges. For a fixed annual fee, members of each of our research programs have access to an integrated
set of services, including best practices research studies, executive education seminars, customized research briefs and Web-based
access to the program’s content database and decision support tools.

Qur growth strategy is to cross-sell additional research programs to existing members, to add new members and to develop new
research programs and decision support tools. The implementation of our growth strategy can be seen in our operating results.
Over the past three years, our revenues have grown at a compound annual growth rate of 29.9% from $210.2 million in 2003 to
$460.6 million in 2006, while costs have grown at a compound annual growth rate of 32.3% from $153.8 million in 2003 to $356.2
million in 2006. Included in the growth rate for costs is the effect of share-based compensation for 2006, which accounted for 3.2%
of the growth rate. In addition, our Contract Value has grown at a compound annual growth rate of 27.8% over the past three
years and was $475.7 million at December 31, 2006. We define Contract Value as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to
all agreements in effect at a given point in time, without regard to the remaining duration of any such agreement. Our experience
has been that a substantial portion of members renew subscriptions for an equal or higher level each year. See the table titled
“Other Operating Data (Unaudited)” for additional information with respect to members, subscriptions and renewals.

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).
These accounting principles require us to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates,
judgments and assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these
estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities as of the dateof the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the periods presented. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates, judgments or assumptions and actual
results, our financial statements will be affected. The accounting policies that reflect our more significant estimates, judgments
and assumptions and which we believe are the most critical to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our reported financial
results are discussed in the “Critical Accounting Policies” section below.

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require
management’s judgment in its application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting among available
alternatives would not produce a materially different result. Our senior management has reviewed these critical accounting
policies and related disclosures with our Audit Committee,

Memberships, which are principally annually renewable agreements, are generally payable by members at the beginning of the
contract term. Billings attributable to memberships in our research programs initially are recorded as deferred revenues and then
are generally recognized on a pro rata basis over the membership contract term, which is typically twelve months. At any time,
a member may request a refund of its membership fee for a research program. Refunds are provided on a pro rata basis relative
to the remaining term of the membership.

Our operating costs and expenses generally consist of cost of services, member relations and marketing, general and administrative
expenses, and depreciation and amortization. Cost of services represents the costs associated with the production and delivery of
our products and services, which comprises compensation, including share-based compensation, of research personnel and in-
house faculty, the production of published materials, the organization of executive education seminars and alt associated support
services. Cost of services is exclusive of depreciation and amortization, which is shown separately on the consolidated statements
of income. Member relations and marketing expenses include the costs of acquiring new members, the costs of maintaining and
renewing existing members, compensation expense (including sales commissions and share-based compensation), travel and all
associated support services. General and administrative expenses consist of compensation, including share-based compensation,
and other costs associated with human resources and recruiting, finance and accounting, management information systems,
facilities management, new product development and other administrative functions. Depreciation and amortization expense
includes all costs of depreciation of our property and equipment, which consists of furniture, fixtures and equipment, capitalized
software and Web site development costs and leasehold improvements, and the amortization of our intangible assets. Non-cash
lease restructuring costs in 2004 primarily consists of a non-cash charge related to the assumption of several of our existing lease
agreements by a new lessor,




Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the following policies as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of operations.
This listing is not a comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular
transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP, with no need for management’s judgment in their application. There are also areas
in which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative would not produce a materially different result. However,
certain of our accounting policies are particularly important to the portrayal of our financial position and results of operations
and may require the application of significant judgment by our management; as a result, they are subject to an inherent degree
of uncertainty. In applying those policies, our management uses its judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be
used in the determination of certain estimates. Those estimates are based on our historical experience, our observance of trends
in the industry, information provided by our members and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. For
a more detailed discussion of the application of these and other accounting policies, see “Note 3. Summary of significant account
policies” in our consolidated financial statements and related notes. Qur critical accounting policies include:

Deferred income taxes

We have netdeferred income tax assets for federal and Washington, D.C. income tax purposes. In estimating future tax consequences,
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“FAS 109”), generally considers all
expected future events in the determination and valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are reduced
by a valuation allowance when, in management’s opinion, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized. We have provided a valuation allowance of approximately $5.8 million for the estimated loss of Washington,
D.C. tax credits which will occur upon our move to Virginia in 2008. We believe that our future taxable income will be sufficient
for the full realization of the net deferred income tax assets. However, FAS 109 does not consider the effect of future changes
in existing tax laws or rates in the determination and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities until such new tax laws or
rates are enacted. We have established our deferred income tax assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax laws and rates
that are expected to apply to taxable income in the periods in which the deferred tax asset or liability is expected to be realized or
settled. We will recognize as income an adjustment for the impact of new tax laws or rates or from changes in our tax status on
the existing deferred tax assets and liabilities when new tax laws or rates are enacted or the change in our status occurs.

Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate its carrying value may not
be recoverable in accordance with FASB Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“FAS 142”). The provisions
of FAS 142 require that a two-step impairment test be performed on goodwill. In the first step, a comparison of the fair value
of the reporting unit to its carrying value should be performed, If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the carrying value
of the net assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is considered not impaired and we are not required to perform further testing.
If the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, then we must
perform the second step of the impairment test in order to determine the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. If
the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then we would record an impairment loss equal
to the difference. Determining the fair value of the reporting unit is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant
estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include revenue growth rates and operating margins used to
calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, future economic and market conditions and determination
of appropriate market comparables. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable but that are
unpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition

Revenues from membership subscriptions are recognized ratably over the term of the related subscription, which generally is
twelve months. Membership fees generally are billable, and revenue recognition begins, when the member agrees to the terms of
the membership. Certain membership fees are billed on an installment basis. Members may request a refund of their membership
fees, which is provided on a pro rata basis relative to the length of the remaining membership term. Qur policy is to record the full
amount of membership fees receivable as an asset and related deferred revenue as a liability when a member agrees to the terms
of a membership. Revenues from membership subscriptions were greater than 95% of total revenues in 2004, 2005 and 2006.

Reserve for uncollectible revenue

We record a reserve for uncollectible revenue based upon management’s analyses and estimates as to the collectability of our
accounts receivable. As part of our analysis, we examine our collections history, the age of the receivables in question, any specific
customer collection issues that we have identified, general market conditions, customer concentrations and current economic
trends.

Incentive compensation

Commission expenses related to the negotiation of new memberships and the renewal of existing memberships are deferred and
amortized over the term of the related memberships.




Share-based compensation

We account for share-based compensation in accordance with FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123(R), share-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date of the
share-based awards based on their fair values, and is recognized on a straight-line basis as expense in the consolidated statements
of income over the vesting periods of the awards, net of an estimated forfeiture rate. In accordance with the modified prospective
transition method, compensation cost recognized by us beginning January 1, 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-
based payments granted on or after January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions
of FAS 123(R), and (b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but that were unvested as of January
1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of FAS 123. Results for prior
periods have not been restated. We previously recorded share-based compensation expense in accordance with the provisions
of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 257), which allowed us to
record share-based compensation expense based on the intrinsic value of the share-based award at the date of grant.

Under the provisiens of FAS 123(R), we calculate the grant date fair value of share-based awards using a lattice valuation model
for grants subsequent to the adoption of FAS 123(R). For grants prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R}, we used the Black-Scholes
valuation model. Determining the fair value of share-based awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant
estimates and assumptions, including the term of the share-based awards, risk-free interest rates over the vesting period, expected
dividend rates, the price volatility of our shares and forfeiture rates of the awards. Prior to adopting FAS 123(R}, we recognized
forfeitures only as they occurred. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to be reasonable but that are
inherently uncertain, Actual future results may differ from those estimates.

As mandated by FAS 123(R}, beginning in the first quarter of 2006, we also report the benefits of tax deductions in excess of
recognized compensation expense as a financing cash inflow in the consolidated statement of cash flows. Prior to the adoption
of FAS 123(R), we reported these tax benefits as an operating cash flow. Results for prior periods have not been restated.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain financial data as a percentage of total revenues for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
REVENUES ..ottt nsnsne e s s e e s nsnes e eeenesnennans . 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
COSt OF SEIVICES ....vuvertieeee ettt e a e e e barabns . 326 33.4 35.6
GIOSS POfItounniiiii s 67.4 66.6 64.4
Costs and expenses:
Member relations and marketing 26.9 25.9 26.5
General and adminiStrative ..........ccccocvvinnrenrcrceerese e 1.1 11.1 12.9
Depreciation and amortization ... 24 2.0 2.3
Non-cash lease restructuring CostS .. 1.9 — —
Total costs and expenses............. 42.3 33.0 41.7
INCOME fTOM OPETALIONS .e.vevveveeenireeeeeeserser e s s seesersersersereeneeseenseserses 25.1 27.6 22.7
Other INCOME, NEL ...t creeseeitiie et s s sa e sbsta s betas ___ 35 3.8 5.3
Income before provision for income taxes 28.6 314 27.9
Provision for income taxes .. 9.5 10.6 10.8

NEE INCOME ..o eae e eenerereeeeeeaenae 19.1% 20.7% 17.2%
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Years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

Revenues. Revenues increased 29.0% from $280.7 million in 2004 to $362.2 million in 2005, and 27.2% to $460.6 million in
2006. The largest driver of the increase in revenues in 2004, 2005 and 2006 was the cross-selling of additional subscriptions to
existing members. Other drivers contributing to the increase in revenues in 2004, 2005 and 2006 included the introduction of
new research programs and the addition of new members. We introduced five new research programs in 2004, six new research
programs in 2005 and six new research programs in 2006.

Cost of services. Cost of services increased 32.2% from $91.5 million in 2004 to $120.9 million in 2005 and 35.6% to $164.0 million
in 2006. The year-over-year increases in Cost of services was principally due to increased compensation costs for new and existing
research and executive education staff, including share-based compensation expense in 2006, an increase in external consuiting
expenses to support the growth of our existing programs, new program launches, publishing and executive education seminar
costs and an increase in travel related expenses. The increase in 2006 was offset by a true-up of incentive expense recorded in 2005
which was not paid in 2006. Beginning January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123(R)”), which addresses the accounting for share-based compensation. Included within
Cost of services in 2006 is approximately $12.2 million of share-based compensation expense calculated in accordance with FAS
123(R}. We did not recognize share-based compensation expense in accordance with FAS 123 within the financial statements
prior to January 1, 2006, Cost of services as a percentage of revenues increased from 32.6% in 2004 to 33.4% in 2005 and to
35.6% in 2006. The increase in Cost of services as a percentage of revenues from 2004 to 2005 is due to the relative increase in
compensation costs for new and existing research and executive education staff, the timing of our executive education seminar
schedule relative to 2004, an increase in published studies, and the launch of new programs later during 2005, as compared
to 2004, The increase in Cost of services as a percentage of revenues from 2005 to 2006 is primarily due to the recognition of
share-based compensation expense, an increase in external consulting expenses to support the growth of our existing programs,
a shift in the timing of our publishing and executive education seminar schedule relative to 2005, and an increase in the number
of research and executive education staff, offset by a true-up of incentive expense recorded in 2005 which was not paid in 2006.
Cost of services as a percentage of revenues may fluctuate from year to year due to the timing of the completion and delivery of
best practices research studies, the timing of executive education seminars, the introduction of new membership programs and
the fixed nature of a portion of the production costs of best practices research studies, as these costs are not significantly affected
by growth in the number of membership subscriptions. Accordingly, the Cost of services as a percentage of revenues may not
be indicative of future annual results.

Gross profit. Historically, Gross profit as a percentage of revenues, or gross profit margin, has fluctuated based upon the growth in
revenues offset by the costs of delivering best practices research studies, the timing of executive education seminars, the volume
of customized research briefs, the hiring of personnel and the introduction of new membership programs. Accordingly, the gross
profit margin may vary from one annual period to another. A number of factors that impact gross profit margin are discussed
in the “Cost of services” description above.

Member relations and marketing. Member relations and marketing costs increased 24.0% from $75.6 million in 2004 to $93.7
million in 2005, and 30.5% to $122.2 million in 2006. The increase in Member relations and marketing costs are principally due
to the increase in marketing personnel and related costs, the increase in member relations personnel and related costs to support
our expanding membership base, the increase in commission expense associated with the growth in our revenues, the increase in
travel expenses associated with new sales staff and compensation cost increases, including share-based compensation expense in
2006. Included within Member relations and marketing expense in 2006 isapproximately $5.6 million of share-based compensation
expense calculated in accordance with FAS 123(R). Member relations and marketing costs as a percentage of revenues decreased
from 26.9% in 2004 to 25.9% in 2005, and increased to 26.5% in 2006. The decrease in Member relations and marketing costs
as a percentage of revenues from 2004 to 2005 is primarily a result of the marketing and member services productivity gains
and timing of new hires noted above in 2005, as compared to 2004, The increase in Member relations and marketing costs as
a percentage of revenues from 2005 to 2006 is principally due to the recognition of share-based compensation expense, which
accounts for 1.2% of the Member relations and marketing expense, as a percentage of revenue, in 2006. The remaining change
is due to a decrease in incentives for Member relations and marketing personnel.
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General and administrative. General and administrative expense increased 28.9% from $31.3 million in 2004 to $40.3 million in
2005, and 48.0% to $59.6 million in 2006. The year-over-year increases are principally driven by an increase in staff and staff-
related compensation costs and the use of external consultants to support our organizational growth. In 2004, we experienced
an increase in the use of external financial, legal and information technology consultants to support our organizational growth
and assist us in the compliance with certain regulatory requirements. In addition, in August 2004, we entered into a new lease
agreement for office facilities in Rosslyn, Virginia beginning in 2008. In association with the new lease agreement, we incurred
additional external financial and legal consulting costs to restructure existing lease agreements and we recorded $0.9 million
to expense certain deferred leasehold improvement costs for office space that we will no longer occupy. See further discussion
of the new lease agreement in the “Non-cash lease restructuring costs” section below. In 2005, we also experienced an increase
in the use of external personnel search firms and recognized certain lease termination costs, further discussed below, which
was offset by the reduction of external financial, legal and information technology consultants to support our compliance with
certain regulatory requirements. In September 2005, we entered into an agreement whereby the existing lease for our corporate
headquarters in Washington, D.C. was modified to terminate in early 2008, with certain space terminating on July 31, 2006. As
a result, we incurred a $775,000 one-time charge relating to a lease termination penalty as well as other immaterial amounts
relating to an accrual of certain operating costs for the space that we will no longer occupy. In 2006, the increase in General and
administrative expense was also driven by staff related share-based compensation expense, costs associated with the development
of our new Rosslyn, Virginia office facility and the recognition, in the second quarter, of prior period sales tax for certain states in
which some of our non-Washington, D.C. based domestic staff were located to support our growing domestic membership base.
Refer to “Note 18. Commitments and contingencies” for further discussion. We currently collect state sales tax from members,
where applicable, and remit the sales tax to the respective state sales tax agency. Included within General and administrative
expense in 2006 is approximately $7.4 million of share-based compensation expense calculated in accordance with FAS 123(R).
General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenues remained unchanged at 11.1% from 2004 to 2005, and increased
to 12.9% in 2006. General and administrative expense as a percentage of revenues did not change from 2004 to 2005 due to the
items noted above relative to the increase in revenues in 2005. The increase in General and administrative expense as a percentage
of revenues from 2005 to 2006 is primarily a result of the recognition of share-based compensation expense, which accounts for
1.6% of the General and administrative expense, as a percentage of revenue, in 2006. The remaining changes are due to percentage
decreases from the items noted above.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense increased 7.8% from $6.8 million in 2004 to $7.3 million
in 2005, and increased 42.09 to $10.4 million in 2006. The year-over-year increases in depreciation and amortization expense were
principally due to the additional investment in leasehold improvements for additional office space in the Washington, D.C. and
London offices, the purchase of computer equipment and management information systems software to support organizational
growth and the amortization of intangible assets that were recognized as part of our acquisition in the quarter ended September
30, 2005. See “Impact of acquisition” below.

Non-cash lease restructuring costs. In August 2004, we entered into a twenty-year lease agreement for office facilities in Rosslyn,
Virginia beginning in early 2008. Contemporaneously with the signing of the Virginia office facilities lease, our previous
obligations for several existing office facility leases were assigned to, and assumed by, the lessor of the Virginia office facilities. As
a result, we recorded a $5.2 million net non-cash lease restructuring charge composed of the items further described below. We
recorded a non-cash charge of $5.4 million which represents our estimate of the lease incentives attributable to the assumption
of the previous lease agreements by the new lessor. We will recognize the $5.4 million lease incentive on a straight-line basis as a
reduction of rent expense over the term of the new Virginia office facilities lease. We also recorded a non-cash charge of $125,000
which represents our estimate of certain restoration costs we may be required to pay for the office space which we will no longer
occupy. In addition, we recorded a non-cash benefit of approximately $351,000 for the reversal of a portion of deferred rental
obligations that were previously being recognized over the life of the original lease term, resulting in constant rent expense over
the original lease term. The assumption of the lease agreement resulted in the reduction of the original lease term and therefore,
the reversal of rent expense previously recognized for deferred rental obligations that we will no longer incur. See “General and
administrative™ above for the discussion of the lease termination penalty recorded in 2005.

Other income, net. Other income, net, consists primarily of interest income earned on a portfolio of cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities and the realized gains and losses on the sale of marketable securities. Other income, net increased 36.8%
from $9.9 million in 2004 to $13.6 million in 2005, and 79.0% to $24.3 million in 2006. The year-over-year growth in Other
income, net, was due primarily to the increase in interest income associated with the increased level of cash and cash equivalents
in 2005, and with the increased level of marketable securities along with increased investment returns in a higher interest rate
environment in 2006.
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Provision for income taxes. We recorded a Provision for income taxes of $26.7 million, $38.6 million and $49.6 million, in 2004,
2005 and 2006, respectively. The increase in the Provision for income taxes primarily reflects the increase in our Income before
provision for income taxes and in 2006, the increase in the Washington, D.C. Qualified High Technology Company {(“QHTC”)
statutory income tax rate to 6.0% from 0.0% in 2005. See further discussion of the Washington, D.C. QHTC statutory income
tax rate in “Note 12. Income taxes.” The increase in the effective income tax rate from 33.25% in 2004 to 33.9% in 2005 reflects
a slight decrease in the estimated income tax benefit that we received from certain Washington, D.C. and federal income tax
incentives. The increase in the effective income tax rate to 38.5% in 2006 also reflects a decrease in the estimated benefit that
we receive from certain Washington, D.C. income tax incentives, as these incentives may not be realized, and the elimination of
certain federal income tax incentives.

Impact of acquisition. In September 2005, we acquired substantially all of the assets and technology of the Executive Performance
Group (“EPG”) to support the launch of the Shared Services Roundtable membership program. Under the terms of the EPG
acquisition agreement, the initial purchase price was $8.2 million which may be increased if certain future business operating
conditions are achieved on or before December 31, 2008. Pro forma financial information for this acquisition has not been
presented as the effects were not material to our historical consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash generated by operations is our primary source of liquidity and we believe that existing cash and marketable securities
balances and operating cash flows will be sufficient to support operations, capital expenditures, and the payment of dividends, as
well as share repurchases during the next 12 months. We had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $544.6 million
and $487.3 million at December 31, 2005, and 2006, respectively. We expect to make income tax payments of approximately $13
million in the first quarter of 2007 and expect to continue making tax payments in future periods. We estimate that it will cost
approximately $60 million through 2008 to build out the office space in Rosslyn, Virginia. In addition, we estimate that we will
spend approximately $10 million during 2007 to support growth of our headcount and infrastructure.

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method. Pursuant to FAS 123(R),
we have reported the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized book compensation expense as a financing cash inflow
in the consolidated statement of cash flows in 2006. Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), we reported these tax benefits as an
operating cash flow. Prior period results have not been restated. See further discussion of the impact on our consolidated financial
statements of adopting FAS 123(R) under “Critical Accounting Policies” above and in “Note 5. Share-based compensation.”

Cash flows from operating activities. Membership subscriptions, which are principally annually renewable agreements, are generally
payable by members at the beginning of the contract term. The combination of revenue growth, profitable operations and advance
payments of membership subscriptions has historically resulted in net cash flows provided by operating activities. We generated
net cash flows from operating activities of $118.7 million, $181.5 million, and $136.3 million in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.
In 2004, operating cash flows were generated during the period principally by net income, the growth in deferred revenues, the
utilization of tax benefits resulting from share-based compensation arrangements, and offset by the increase in membership
fees receivable. In 2005, operating cash flows were generated during the year principally by net income, the increase in deferred
revenues, the utilization of tax benefits resulting from share-based compensation arrangements, the growth in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities, and the increase in accrued incentive compensation, offset by the increase in membership fees receivable
and deferred incentive compensation. In 2006, operating cash flows were generated during the year principally by net income,
an increase in deferred revenues, the utilization of tax benefits resulting from share-based compensation arrangements and an
increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, offset by the reclassification of excess tax benefits resulting from share-based
compensation arrangements, an increase in membership fees receivable and an increase in other non-current assets.

Cash flows from investing activities. We used net cash flows in investing activities of $142.4 million in 2004. We generated net cash
flows from investing activities of $159.5 million in 2005. We used net cash flows in investing activities of $212.0 million in 2006.
In 2004, investing cash flows were used for purchases, net of sales, of available-for-sale marketable securities of $133.4 million,
purchases of leasehold improvements for additional office space in Washington, D.C. and London, England, and purchases of
computer software and equipment of $9.0 million. In 2005, net cash flows from investing activities were generated by maturities
and sales of available-for-sale marketable securities of $176.4 million, partially offset by the purchase of property and equipment
totaling $8.7 million, and asset acquisition costs, net of cash acquired, of $8.1 million. In 2006, net cash flows from investing
activities were used to purchase available-for-sale marketable securities, net of maturities, of $194.3 million, and property and
equipment, consisting of leasehold improvements for additional office space in Washington, D.C. and London, England, Web
site development costs and computer equipment and software, of $17.7 million.
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Cash flows from financing activities. We generated net cash flows from financing activities of $19.2 million in 2004. We used net
cash flows in financing activities of $30.7 million and $177.2 million in 2005 and 20086, respectively. Net cash flows provided by
financing activities in 2004 were principally attributed to the receipt of $55.5 million in cash from the exercise of common stock
options, primarily in conjunction with the sale of 1.9 million shares of our common stock by our employees and directors in a
registered public offering in May 2004, partially offset by the repurchase of 509,094 shares of our common stock, which totaled
$25.7 million, and the payment of dividends, which totaled $11.6 million. Net cash flows used in financing activities in 2005 were
principally attributed to the repurchase of 855,705 shares of our common stock, which totaled $61.5 million, and the payment of
dividends, which totaled $15.8 million, partially offset by the receipt of proceeds of $45.1 million from the exercise of common
stock options, primarily in conjunction with the sale of 1.3 million shares of our common stock by our employees and directors
in March 2005, and proceeds from the issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan, which totaled $1.4
million. Net cash flows used in financing activities in 2006 were principally attributed to the repurchase of our common stock,
which totaled $176.0 million, and the payment of dividends, which totaled $47.4 million, partially offset by the recognition of
excess tax benefits of $41.2 million resulting from share-based compensation arrangements, proceeds of $3.0 million from the
exercise of common stock options, and proceeds of $2.0 million from the issuance of common stock under the employee stock
purchase plan.

We have entered into letter of credit agreements of $2.4 million, $0.7 million, $0.5 million and $21,000 to provide security deposits
for certain office space leases. The letters of credit expire January 2008, June 2007, August 2007 and May 2007, respectively, but
will automatically extend for another year from their expiration dates, unless we terminate them. To date, no amounts have
been drawn on these agreements. Under the terms of the Rosslyn, Virginia lease agreement, we have committed to providing the
landlord security deposits totaling $50 million. We have pledged $50 million of long-term marketable securities to the landlord
as collateral for this obligation.

Contractual obligations

We lease office facilities in the United States, United Kingdom and India expiring on various dates through 2027. In the second
quarter of 2006, we entered into a new lease agreement for additional office space in the United Kingdom. In the third quarter of
2006, we entered into new lease agreements for additional office space in Washington, D.C. The expiration of the new Washington,
D.C, leases will coincide with our move to the new Rosslyn, Virginia headquarters in early 2008, In the fourth quarter of 2006, we
entered into new lease agreements for additional office locations in Chicago, lllinois and San Francisco, California. The Chicago
office lease is for a seven year term with total lease payments of $6.2 million. The San Francisco lease is for a three year term with
total lease payments of $0.4 million. Certain lease agreements include provisions for rental escalations and require us to pay for
executory costs such as taxes and insurance. Future minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases, excluding
executory costs, total $596.3 million.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2006:

Payments Due by Period (in thousands)

Total < 1Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years > 5 Years
Operating lease obligations (1) ...coorivvensrisinrencescnenens $ 596333 § 21,186 § 59,340 § 63,399 § 452,408
Other liabilities (2)....ooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeceseceeesesee e B 7,882 § — % — 3 — 5 7,882

(1) Pursuant to the terms of the Rosslyn, Virginia lease, we have the option to accelerate the date at which we obtain control of
a portion of the leased property, which would increase the rental payments discussed above.

(2) Other liabilities includes elective deferrals and earnings under the deferred compensation plan.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet financing or other arrangements with unconseclidated entities or financial partnerships
(such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities) established for purposes of facilitating off-
balance sheet financing or other debt arrangements or for other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate risks that could impact our
financial position and results of operations.

Interest rate risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, which
is designed for safety of principal and liquidity. Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid U.S. Treasury obligations
with maturities of less than three months. Marketable securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury notes and bonds and insured
Washington, D.C. tax-exempt notes and bonds. We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to the cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities. This portfolio is subject to inherent interest rate risk as investments mature and are
reinvested at current market interest rates. We currently do not use derivative financial instruments to adjust our portfolio risk
or income profile.

The following table provides the principal (notional) amount by expected maturity of our available-for-sale marketable securities
at December 31, 2006 (dollars in thousands):

Fair Value
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total 12/31/06
Marketable securities ......c.mverrsenes $ 119800 $ 124,040 $§ 26,000 $ 21,290 § 9,845 $ 14,855 $ 315830 $ 315,920

Average effective interest rate............. 4.61% 4.54% 3.67% 4.33% 5.49% 4.91%

Foreign currency exchange rate risk

Our international operaticns subject us to risks related to foreign currency exchange fluctuations. Prices for our products are
denominated predominately in U.S. dollars, even when sold to customers that are located outside the United States. Many of the
costs associated with our operations located outside the United States are denominated in local currencies. As a consequence,
the increased strength of local currencies against the U.S. dollar in countries where we have foreign operations would result in
higher effective operating costs and, potentially, reduced earnings. In 2006, we began to use forward contracts to protect against
foreign currency exchange rate risks inherent with our cost reimbursement agreement with our UK subsidiary. A forward contract
obligates us to exchange a predetermined amount of UL.S. dollars to make an equivalent GBP payment equal to the value of such
exchange. A hypothetical 10% adverse movement in foreign currency exchange rates would not have a material adverse impact
to our results of operations.

ANOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report, including information incorporated into this document by reference, contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs or
expectations, are forward-looking statements, and are contained throughout this Annual Report, including under the section
entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” These statements are based
on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. Forward-looking
statements include the information concerning our possible or assumed results of operations, business strategies, financing
plans, competitive position and potential growth opportunities. Forward-locking statements include all statements that are

»

not historical facts and can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminolagy such as the words “believes,” “expects,”

M LTS

“anticipates,” “intends,” “plans” or “estimates” or similar expressions.

Forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed
in these forward-looking statements, You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by forward-looking statements include, among others, those discussed
in this Annual Report under “Critical Accounting Policies” and elsewhere in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.” All forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report are qualified by these
cautionary statements and are made only as of the date this Annual Report is filed. We undertake no obligation, other than as
required by law, to update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise.




THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share amounts)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents.......coovicniicnninn,

Marketable SECUTIHIES 1..oviveriiiiiiiiiisisisss i sssssssssss s s s s sssssassssssssssns s s rereens

Membership fees receivable, net

Deferred income taxes, net

Deferred incentive compensation OO OO OO O ORI

Prepaid expenses and other current assets ...........

TOUA] CUITENT ASSEUS...evercereeerrereserreressssssisessesisessasesnsassesssassessssssesnsassesnsassessesssessesessssesesssases rasssssasassnsassensssssn

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, NET ..o ceeeneenenecssesessesecaeacnssstnsseasasssssssssssssenssessossbssassssssssssnons

MARKETABLE SECURITIES ... RSP PO PP POPR TR

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES.....crvrevieieeesisie e sessesisestcnsicnssicnssssnssssssssss s smssssmsssarsasnns
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET ... s ssesssssesessssssiissssssssisssssnonsssssssssssas

Total assets..inniiiiiiiininns

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued TABIHES ..o e

Accrued InCentive COMPENSATION c.ovvveeisrerirsssssersis et assesecsesensences

DIETEITEA TEVEIIUES wuvererveiirireeiirreircisesessesssssesssessisssessasesssbasesssbase s st ase s st abese s aaseaassaaerssses et srs et et enessesersaneassebesssssbons

Total CUTTENT JIADIITIES 111 veeviviciieeic s e e b rb e b e e s b b e e s e be b maabeab e b e e bes s e s e seenevaeeaaesaanarassasarrn

OTHER LIABILITIES ... et s s s s s s e bbb 4 b4 41005 g2t

TOLAL HHADIIIEIES vvvveereirristiiseiassassessasaressssrarerersrrerrerresessesssensessessarssessesssestessessansassssssasessssaasaeaescesassesn

Commitments and contingencies
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common stock, par value $0.01; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 41,399,533 and 42,805,325 shares issued at
December 31, 2005 and 20086, respectively; and 39,482,727 and 38,947,908 shares outstandmg at December
31, 2005 and 2006, respectively ...

Additional paid-in-capital......oini -
Retained Garnings ....ecvevvvsssmsirssssrmsmssssmsssssrensrrsiersrsnimissnsiossrsnenns
Accumulated elements of 0ther COMPTIENENSIVE 1055 cuverrrrerererserererserirarerssmmcacassmmrmersessmssisssessasseesssesessssesssie
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,916,806 and 3,857,417 shares at December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively .......
Total stockholders’ equity. et nrerresatre e res
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity eereenen et en

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2005 2006

$ 424,276 § 171,367

2,264 119,534
120,242 153,107
11,880 15,109
11,489 13,160
7,671 9,881
577,822 482,158
2,958 12,896
118,096 196,386
8,445 7.826
1,273 9,801
18,401 26,988

$ 726995 §_ 736,055

$ 42429 § 66,773

27,045 25,062
261,300 308,671
330,774 400,506

10,807 17,684
341,581 418,190

414 428
277,028 353,990
214,892 246,668

(124) (440)

(106,796)  (282,781)

385,414 317,865

$_726995 § 736,055




THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In thousands, except per-share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
REVENUES ... s st s esss s sesssse s s sisssassenssnssesns $ 280,724 $ 362,226 460,623
COST OF SERVICES (1} .ccitiineeesecrsnsnsnensissisiisisssesssssssssssssssssssssnssssssssssstsnsbesetesssesans 91,469 120,944 164,022
GROSS PROFIT ittt emssssms st sttt semes et et seastssasssenssnens 189,255 241,282 296,601
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Member relations and marketing (1) oo e snsessreraes 75,560 93,657 122,177
General and admiINISTIALIVE (1) ..o eeecereeverrereeesssseesserreressesssseeseeresssssesessssessssssasenens 31,254 40,295 59,629
Depreciation and amortization 6,782 7,308 10,381
Non-cash lease restructuring costs y 5210 — —
Total costs and eXPenses ....ovvccevrcreeeeeeereeeeeeeereseeenes 118,806 141,260 192,187
INCOME FROM OPERATIONS ; 70,445 100,022 104,414
OTHER INCOME, NET ...coneeeecemeceeneneesieenereenenes 9,936 13,588 24,318
INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES.. . 80,385 113,610 128,732
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES ..o 26,729 38,550 49,561
NET INCOME ..ottt e ses s nsssnsessnseseaversaversssstsasssssssssnnns § 53,656 $ 75,060 79,171
EARNINGS PER SHARE
BaSIC e ettt sare e e e ettt D 1.40 $ 1.90 1.99
DIHUE oot s sssssss s st tseme e srecssnen ettt iaee D 1.34 3 1.83 1.94
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE SOOI 0.30 5 0.40 1.20
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES USED IN THE CALCULATION OF EARNINGS PER
SHARE
Basic 38,344 39,572 39,712
Diluted 39,925 41,092 40,721
(1) The following table summarizes the share-based compensation recognized in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123(R) included in the consolidated
staternents of income above:
CoSt Of SETVICES ..o v 5 — $ — 12,236
Member relations and marketing .........cocoocovevirennes — — 5,644
General and adminiStEALIVE ..o e sensesensesrnt e s sens — — 7,426

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.




THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

17

Year ended December 31,

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NETINCOME ottt vensas st saare s rene e b b st bbb bbb e ams e b e b b TR s g0

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amOTtIZAtION ... ... s s s
Loss on disposition of property and eqUIPMENt.. .. e s
(Gain}/loss on sale Of INVESLIMENES....c.c e e s
Deferred INCOME TAXES <.ou..ereremrcereermeeeme i cremreeesesen st s sass s s s s s st s e ra s e Ta s
Share-based COMPENSALIOT «.vucrr reerer e ree sttt bbb s T T e o
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements ........cevvenvsrnvsesnnns
Non-cash 1ease restructUTing COSLS ...oumiemrieemiisstisse s sesasss s nssssmssssnssssasasssrae

Amortization of marketable securities premiums {discounts}), net......ceirmisiirrvmeisienns

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Membership fees recelvable, Met ...t
Deferred iNCentive COMPENSALION c...ccviieiems st sesres st s ssenas et s seas s stasba s ssas s sasresas
Prepaid expenses and o1her CUTTent aSSets ...
OLhEr NOMN-CUTTENE ASSELS 1vuvvrerurerecrsermreersresnaesessossemsmeserssessessessesstissarsatt sttt s sassnranss
Accounts payable and accrued Habilities ......vecvvnieniiennner e
Accrued INCentive COMPENSATION v iceiicsiessesienrnssssmesraemecsense s brebb et sssnbesesssssnrsssarses
DElEITEA FEVEIIULS ....coucvrcrrenreremersereesensesrescmsstsinsas s sssssssansssbnsasesse s samss e st sab et b st
Other HADILItIES «..cvvveerirroeeeisrenrenrermsres s sressrsssmssseemes sesecsessessensassemsessemresseeseshastsstastassnsnsanss

Net cash flows provided by operating aCtVIEIES ....ocvoriirecriniisnirenrec s seserinens

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and eqQUIPITIENT ......c.ovieeiemris et isser st s s benre e eees
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired ...
Purchases of marketable SECUTIHES v s s e
Sales and maturities of marketable SECUTTUES ... roviviveininnsinairrs e sesanes

Net cash flows (used in} provided by investing activities.....remireimsoneees

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from the exercise of common stock OPHONS .
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan .......
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation arrangements .......vverereseesesssconees
Purchase of treasury SHATES ..o oot s s s s s sesse e
Payment of dividends ..o vceceecrermemmerorm et s e e
Reimbursement of commaon stock offering CoStS vt
Payment of common Stock offering COSES ..o e
Net cash flows provided by {used in) financing activities......c.coeeieevsierersesninns

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ..o
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of Year .....cuninimrsese e s

Cash and cash equivalents, end of Year.......iiiimrsns s s

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

2004

2005

2006

53,656

6,182
1,162
(746)
24,373

5,210
2,777

(33,546)
(1,945)
(1,865)

4,896
7,116
50,650
1,178

$ 75,060

7,300
2,320
30,801

1,865

(23,055)

(2,212)
327

(1,238)
25,041
8,894
55,252
1,109

118,698

181,469

{9,002)
(197,049)
63,611

(8,703)
(8,136)

176,384

{142,440

158,545

55,495

931
(25,687)
(11,569)

225
(225)

45,135
1,407

(61,489)
(15,787)

35

(35)

19,170

{30,734)

(4,572)
118,568

310,280
113,996

113,996

$ 424,276

§ 79,171

10,381

34,139
25,306
(41,225)

(2,389)

(32,865)
{1,671)
(2,210)
(8,564)
23,933

{1,983)
47,371

6,877

136,271

(17,743)

(196,920)
2,635

(212,028)

2,979
2,024
41,225
(175,985}
{47,395}
70
{70)
(177,152)
(252,909)
424,276
$ 171,367
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Balance at December 31, 2003

Issuance of common stock upon
the exercise of common stock
options

Issuance of common stock under
the employee stock purchase plan

Tax benefits related to the exercise
of common stock options

Purchase of treasury stock at cost

Unrealized losses on available-for-
sale marketable securities, net of
tax benefit

Foreign currency translation, net of
tax expense

Payment of dividends
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2004

Issuance of commeon stock upon
the exercise of common stock
options

Issuance of common stock under
the employee stock purchase plan

Tax benefits related to the exercise
of common stock options

Purchase of treasury stock at cost

Unrealized losses on avatlable-for-
sale marketable securities, net of
tax benefit

Foreign currency translation, net of
tax benefit

Payment of dividends
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2005

Issuance of common stock upon
the exercise of common stock
options

Issuance of common stock under
the employee stock purchase plan

Share-based compensation

Tax benefits related to the exercise
of common stock options

Purchase of treasury stock at cost

Unrealized losses on available-for-
sale marketable securities, net of
tax benefit

Payment of dividends
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2006

THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006
{In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated
Elements

Commeon Stock Additional of Other Annual
Paid-in- Retained Comprehensive Treasury Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Stock Total Income
37,283,068 % 378 § 143426 § 113,532 $ 4,277 § (19,620) $ 241,993 § —_
2,134,530 21 55,474 _ — — 55,495 —
22,144 — 931 — — — 931 —
— — 15,156 — — — 15,156 —
(509,094) —_ _ — —_ (25,687) (25,687) —
— — — — (2,645) — {2,645} (2.645)
— — — —_ 131 — 131 131
—_ — — (11,569} — — (11,569) —
—_ —_ —_ 53,656 — —_— 53,656 53,656
38,930,648 $ 399 % 214987 § 153,619 $ 1,763 $ (45,307) $ 327461 § 51,142
1,382,828 15 45,120 — — — 45,135 —_
24,956 — 1,407 — — — 1,407 —
— — 15,584 — — —_ 15,514 —
(855,705) — —_ — —_ (61,489) (61,489) —
— —_ - —_ (1,349) — {1,349) (1,349)
_ _ - — (538) — (538) (538)
— — —_ (15,787} — —_ (15,787) —
— — — 75,060 — — 75,060 75,060
39,482,727 § 414 § 277,028 § 214,892 § (124) % (106,796) $ 385414 § 73,173
1,378,917 14 2,965 —_ — — 2,979 —_
26,875 — 2,024 — — —_ 2,024 —
— —_ 25,465 — — — 25,465 —
— — 46,508 —— — — 46,508 —
(1,940,611) — — — —_ {175,985)  (175,985) —
—_ —_ —_ — (316) — (316) (316}
—_ —_ —_ (47,395) — — {47,395) —
—_ —_ -—_ 79,171 — — 79,171 79,171
38,947,908 % 428 § 353,990 § 246,668 §$ (440) § (282,781) § 317,865 $ 78,835

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of operations

The Corporate Executive Board Company (the “Company”) provides “best practices” research, decision support toolsand executive
education focusing on corporate strategy, operations and general management issues. Best practices research supports senior
executive decision making by identifying and analyzing specific management initiatives, processes and strategies that have been
determined to produce the best results in solving common business problems or challenges. For a fixed annual fee, members of
each research program have access to an integrated set of services, including best practices research studies, executive education
seminars, customized research briefs and Web-based access to the program’s content database and decision support tools.

2. Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include accounts of The Corporate Executive Board Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries: The Corporate Executive Board Company (UK) Ltd., Corporate Executive Board India Private Ltd. and CEB
International Holdings, Inc. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Cash equivalents and marketable securities

Short-term investments and marketable securities that mature within three months of purchase are classified as cash equivalents.
Short-term investments and marketable securities with maturities of more than three months are classified as marketable securities,
At December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company’s marketable securities consisted primarily of United States Treasury notes and
bonds and Washington, D.C. tax-exempt notes and bonds. The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale,
which are carried at fair value based on quoted market prices. The net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale marketable
securities are excluded from net income and are included within accumulated elements of comprehensive income. The specific
identification method is used to compute the realized gains and losses on the sale of marketable securities. The Company may
elect not to hold these marketable securities to maturity and may elect to sell these securities at any time.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company uses estimates to determine the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts necessary to reduce membership
fees receivable to their expected net realizable value. The Company estimates the amount of the required allowance by reviewing
the status of past-due receivables and analyzing historical bad debt trends. The Company charges-off receivables deemed to be
uncollectible to the allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts receivable balances are not collateralized.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired in a business
combination. Goodwill amounts are not amortized, but rather are tested for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets that
are not considered to have an indefinite useful life are amortized over their useful lives, which range from three to five years
using the straight-line method. The carrying amount of these assets is reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparison of
the carrying amount of the asset to the future undiscounted cash flows the asset is expected to generate. If the asset is considered
to be impaired, the amount of any impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying value and the fair value of
the impaired asset.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment consists of furniture, fixtures, equipment, capitalized software and Web site development costs, and
leaschold improvements. Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation expense. Furniture, fixtures
and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from
three to seven vears. Capitalized software and Web site development costs are depreciated using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated using
the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term, Replacements and major
improvements are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Recovery of long-lived assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of an asset may not be recoverable. The test for recoverability is made using an estimate of the undiscounted expected future
cash flows and, if required, the impairment loss is measured as the amount that the carrying value of the asset exceeds the asset’s
fair value if the asset is not recoverable,
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Revenue recognition

Revenues from membership subscriptions are recognized ratably over the term of the related subscription, which is generally
twelve months. Revenues from implementation support memberships are recognized as services are performed, limited by the
Company’s pro rata refund policy. Membership fees are generally billable, and revenue recognition begins, when the member
agrees to the terms of the membership. Certain membership fees are billed on an installment basis. Members may request a
refund of their membership fees, which 1s provided on a pro rata basis relative to the length of the remaining membership term.
The Company’s policy is to record the full amount of membership fees receivable as an asset and related deferred revenue as a
liability when a member agrees to the terms of a membership. Revenues from membership subscriptions were greater than 95%
of total revenues in 2004, 2005 and 2006,

Commission expense recognition

Commission expenses related to the negotiation of new memberships and the renewal of existing memberships are deferred and
amortized over the term of the related memberships.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common
shares outstanding during the period increased by the dilutive effect of potential common shares outstanding during the period.
The number of potential common shares outstanding has been determined in accordance with the treasury-stock method to the
extent they are dilutive. Common share equivalents consist of common shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding share-
based compensation awards. A reconciliation of basic to diluted weighted average common shares outstanding is as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding ..., 38,344 39,572 39,712
Effect of dilutive common shares outstanding 1,581 1,520 1,009
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding ........oeveninnnnas 39,925 41,092 40,721

Concentration of credit risk and sources of revenue

Financial instruments, which potentially expose the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of membership
fees receivable and cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to membership fees
receivable are limited due to the large number of members and their dispersion across many different industries and countries
worldwide. However, the Company may be exposed to a declining membership base in periods of unforeseen market downturns,
severe competition or international developments. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the membership base and
related membership fees receivable and establishes allowances for potential credit losses,

The Company generates a percentage of its revenues from members located outside of the United States. In 2004, 2005 and 2006,
approximately 25%, 25% and 27% of revenues, respectively, were generated from members located outside of the United States.
Revenues from customers in European countries were approximately 14%, 14% and 15% in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively,
with no other geographic area representing more than 10% of revenues in any period. No individual member accounted for
more than 2% of revenues for any period presented.

The Company’s international operations subject the Company to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations. Prices for the
Company’s products are denominated predominately in U.S. dollars, even when sold to customers that are located outside the
United States. Many of the costs associated with the Company’s operations located outside the United States are denominated
in local currencies. As a consequence, the increased strength of local currencies against the U.S. dollar in countries where the
Company has foreign operations would result in higher effective operating costs and, potentially, reduced earnings.

The Company maintains a portfolic of cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, which is designed for safety of principal
and liquidity. Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid U.S. governmemt and U.S. Treasury obligations that mature
within three months of purchase. Marketable securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury notes and bonds and Washington,
D.C. tax-exempt notes and bonds. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to the cash,
cash equivalents and marketable securities.

Foreign currency

The functional currency of the Company’s wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Monetary balance sheet and
related income statement accounts, representing claims receivable or payable in a fixed number of foreign currency units regardless
of changes in exchange rates, of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the current exchange rate with exchange gains and losses
recorded in income. Non-monetary balance sheet itemns and related income statement accounts, which do not result in a fixed
future cash inflow or outflow, are translated at their historical exchange rates.
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Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their carrying value.

Income taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of temporary differences between the amounts of assets and liabilities recognized for
financial reporting purposes and such amounts recognized for tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance when, in management’s opinion, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and tax rates on the date of the enactment
of the change.

Research and development costs

Costs related to the research and development of new Company programs are expensed in the period incurred. Research and
development costs were immaterial in 2004, 2005 and 2006.

Preferred stock

The Company has 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized with a par value of $0.01 per share. No shares were issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2006.

Share-based compensation

The Company has several share-based compensation plans which are described more fully in Notes 14 and 16. These plans
provide for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, deferred stock units
and incentive bonuses to employees and non-employee members of our Board of Directors. As described in Note 5, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),“Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123(R)”} on January
1, 2006 using the modified prospective transition method. Under FAS 123(R), share-based compensation cost is measured at
the grant date of the share-based awards based on their fair values, and is recognized on a straight-line basis as expense over the
vesting periods of the awards, net of an estimated forfeiture rate. In accordance with the modified prospective transition method,
compensation cost recognized by the Company beginning January 1, 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based
payments granted on or after January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of
FAS 123(R), and (b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted prior to, but that were unvested as of, January 1,
2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of FAS 123, The Company previously
recorded share-based compensation expense in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”), which allowed the Company to record share-based compensation cost
based on the intrinsic value of the share-based award at the date of grant.

Under FAS 123(R), the Company calculates the grant date fair value of share-based awards using a lattice valuation model for grants
subsequent to the adoption of FAS 123(R). For grants prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company used a Black-Scholes
valuation model. Determining the fair value of share-based awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant
estimates and assumptions, including the term of the share-based awards, risk-free interest rates over the vesting period, expected
dividend rates, the price volatility of the Company’s shares and forfeiture rates of the awards. Prior to adopting FAS 123(R), the
Company recognized forfeitures only as they occurred. The Company bases its fair value estimates on assumptions it believes to
be reasonable but that are inherently uncertain. Actual future results may differ from those estimates.

Under FAS 123(R) the Company also reports the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation expense as
a financing cash inflow in the 2006 consolidated statement of cash flows. Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company
reported these tax benefits as an operating cash flow.

Use of estimates in preparation of financial statements

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). These accounting principles require the Company to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. The Company
believes that the estimates, judgments and assumptions upon which it relies are reasonable based upon information available to
the Company at the time that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions
can affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. To the extent there are material differences between these estimates,
judgments or assumptions and actual results, the Company’s financial statements will be affected.

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require
management’s judgment in its application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting among available
alternatives would not produce a materially different result.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts included in the prior year consolidated financial staternents have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation.
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4. Recent accounting pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement 109” (“FIN 48”) to create a single model to address accounting for
uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for income taxes, by prescribinga minimum recognition threshold atax
position is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition,
measurement, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company will
be required to adopt FIN 48 as of January 1, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of FIN 48 and has not yet
determined the effect the adoption of FIN 48 will have on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“FAS
157”). This Statement clarifies how to measure fair value as permitted under other accounting pronouncements but does not
require any new fair value measurements. The Company will be required to adopt FAS 157 as of January 1, 2008. The Company
is currently evaluating the impact of FAS 157 and has not yet determined the effect the adoption of FAS 157 will have on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations,

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (“FAS 159”). This Statement permits
entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently required
to be measured at fair value. The Company will be required to adopt FAS 159 as of January 1, 2008. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact of FAS 159 and has not yet determined the effect the adoption of FAS 159 will have on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

5. Share-based compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted FAS 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method, and therefore,
has not restated results for prior periods. Under this transition method, share-based compensation expense in 2006 includes
compensation expense for all share-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not vested as of January 1, 2006, based on
the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123, “"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“FAS 123”). Share-based compensation expense for all share-based
compensation awards granted on or after January 1, 2006 is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with
the provisions of FAS 123(R). The Company previously recorded share-based compensation expense in accordance with the
provisions of APB 25, which allowed the Company to record share-based compensation expense based on the intrinsic value of
the share-based award at the date of grant.

Under the principal share-based compensation plans, the Company may grant certain employees, directors and consultants
options to purchase common stock, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock units. Options are rights to purchase common
stock of the Company at the fair market value on the date of grant. Stock appreciation rights are equity settled share-based
compensation arrangements whereby the number of shares that will ultimately be issued is based upon the appreciation of the
Company’s common stock and the number of awards granted to an individual. Restricted stock units are equity settled share-based
compensation arrangements of a number of shares of the Company’s common stock. Holders of options and stock appreciation
rights do not participate in dividends until after the exercise of the award. Restricted stock unit holders do not participate in
dividends nor do they have voting rights until the restrictions lapse.

The total compensation expense related to share-based compensation awards in 2006 was $25.3 million, The Company’s net
income for 2006 was $15.6 million lower, including tax benefits of $9.7 million, than if the Company had continued to account for
share-based compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted earnings per share in 2006 were $0.40 and $0.39 lower, respectively,
than if the Company had not adopted FAS 123(R).

FAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and adjusted, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The forfeiture rate is based on historical experience. Share-based compensation expense
is recognized on a straight-line basis, net of an estimated forfeiture rate, for only those shares expected to vest over the requisite
service period of the award, which is generally the option vesting term of four years. In the pro-forma information required
under FAS 123, asamended by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation
—Transition and Disclosure” (“FAS 148”) for the periods prior to 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they occurred.
When estimating forfeitures, the Company considers voluntary termination behaviors as well as trends of actual forfeitures.

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company presented the excess tax benefit of stock option exercises as operating cash
flows. Upon the adoption of FAS 123(R), excess tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost
recognized for those options are classified as financing cash flows. In 2006, the Company included $41.2 million of excess tax
benefits in the financing section of the consolidated statement of cash flows, representing the amount of excess tax benefit used
to reduce the Company’s tax liability incurred during 2006.
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Equity incentive plans

The Company issues awards under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, adopted in 2004 (the “2004 Plan”) and the Directors’ Stock
Option Plan, adopted in 1998 (the “Directors’ Plan”) (together “the Plans”). All regular employees, directors and consultants are
eligible to receive equity awards. The 2004 Plan provides for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, deferred stock units and incentive bonuses, Grants may consist of treasury shares or newly issued
shares. Options are typically granted as non-qualified stock options but the Plans permit some options granted to qualify as
“incentive stock options” under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. The exercise price of a stock option or other equity-based award
is equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the grant date. Grants for all types of awards generally vest
25% per year beginning one year after the grant date. The contractual term of equity awards ranges from seven to ten years, The
Company had 1.9 million shares available for issuance under the Plans at December 31, 2006.

Valuation assumptions

In the first quarter of 2006, the Company changed the valuation model used for estimating the fair value of share-based
compensation awards from a Biack-Scholes valuation model to a lattice valuation model. This change was made because of the
Company’s belief that the lattice valuation model provides a better estimate of fair value of shared-based compensation awards
granted. The lattice model can incorporate a range of possible outcomes over an award’s term and can be adjusted for changes in
certain assumptions over time. The Black-Scholes model assumptions are more constant over time, which is not always consistent
with an employee’s exercise behavior.

The following assumptions were used to value grants of share-based awards for each respective period:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
RISK-1TE@ INEETESE FALE ...t cecencencessssersensenseneeseessessessesasensesseses s es s eessenessas st s ses s ssscmemmssassasessssessens 3.05% 4.29% 4.80%
Dividend Yield . e 0.6% 0.6 % 1.29%
Expected life Of OPHON (IN YEATS) i ssssssnsss s sasoner 5.0 4.4 4.5
Expected volatility....... 40% 30% 30%
Weighted-average fair value of share-based compensation awards granted..........oocvevrvcvensmsssiinenen $18.19 $19.80 $26.14

The Black-Scholes model would have produced a value that was approximately 12% higher in 2006, The valuation of restricted
stock units is determined using the fair market value on the date of grant, discounted by the present value of dividends expected
to be declared and paid over the vesting period.

Pro-forma information for periods prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R)

Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), the Company provided the disclosures required under FAS 123 as if the fair value method
defined by FAS 123 had been applied to share-based compensation. Pro-forma information for 2004 and 2005 was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005
(In thousands, except
per-share amounts)
INET IICOITIE, A5 FEPOTEEA. ... e cre e teeaseeaseeeaseeeaseasasea st serstsereteeastseasbseas s ae b st b e bt e smemessetane b et semntenen $ 53,656 $ 75,060
Deduct: Total share-based compensation expense determined under fair value-based methods for all
AWATdS, NEt Of FEIATEA TAX EITRCLS ..ooveeeeverereeeeerrecrrevesssrsse s e eereeres et eresrebestere st esbesestessasaassnsas e sansessarssansmanerens (16,773} (16,759}
Pro fOTTIA NEL ITICOITIE 1. 1v1ivvrisiressasrarsrassersssasansassssssssssesesssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssesesesessssse essasnsasntnsnsessasnsssassesesesesesen $ 36,883 $_ 58,301
Earnings per share:
BaSIC—5 TEPOTIEU ... et ea st ea e st s e sase s eas bbb as b e s bbb b et em et e eme b set bbb bbb s nmens $ 1.40 $ 1.90
Basic—PIO fOTIMA i $ 0.96 5 1.47
DAIUEEA——a5 TEPOTIE . vevrericecrrseeresesssasesesessasasesesessasasssesesssssessesensassessesensassssesessassssrssasassssssnsssentassesesesncases $ 1.34 $ 1.83
Diluted—pro forma... B 0.93 $ 1.43
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Equity-based award activity
The following table summarizes the changes in common stock options in 2006:

Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Number of Exercise Contractual Value
Options Price Term {in millions)

Options outstanding, December 31, 2005 ..o, 5,271,183 $ 4496 6.14
OPptions Zranted.....owevmmememmsne — —
Options cancelled............coneenmii . (152,262) 54.62
Options exercised .. (2,176,789) 36.71
Options outstanding, December 31, 2006 ..........conininneinsesnanes 2,942,132 5 5063 5.13 $ 105.1
Options vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2006........... 2,849,979 5 5039 5.13 $ 1063
Options exercisable, Decemnber 31, 2006 c..c..vvevrecercreveccccrcenecaes 881,508 $ 44.15 5.17 $ 384

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value {the difference between the Company’s
closing stock price on the last trading day of 2006 of $87.70 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of share-based
awards) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December 31,
2006. This amount changes over time based on changes in the fair market value of the Company’s stock. A total of 1,500,383
options vested in 2006 with a total fair value of $25.8 million.

The following table summarizes the changes in options in 2004 and 2005:

2004 2005
Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Number of Average
Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price
Options outstanding, beginning of year. ... 6,177,339 $ 29.89 5,411,706 $ 3620
OPONS Granted .....ccoeecrreeeeeeeees e s sas 1,585,500 46.26 1,417,500 66.85
Options cancelled.......ccoeecneeee e (216,603) 31.44 (171,625} 49.03

OPLioNs EXETCISEd. .ivesiisssnsssssssis s s s

(2,134,530) 26.01
5,411,706 $ 36.20
1,413,331 $ 3185

(1,386,398) 32,70
Options outstanding, end of year ... 5,271,183 $ 4496

Options exercisable, end of Year........ccoveiiiiniiinniisne. 1,557,684 $§ 35.05

The following table summarizes the characteristics of options at December 31, 2006:

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Number Weighted Remaining Number Weighted
Range of Qutstanding as of Average Contractual Exercisable as of Average
Exercise Prices December 31, 2006 Exercise Price Life-Years December 31, 2006 Exercise Price
$7.12-332.30 663,725 $ 31.20 5.87 268,225 $ 29.73
32.41-45.10 964,416 43.53 4.36 330,667 40.83
46.45-64.88 1,175,616 63.40 5.26 260,616 60.00
65.26-89.70 138,375 84.78 5.85 22,000 82.17
$7.12-$89.70 2,942,132 $__ 50.63 5.13 881,508 $ 44.15
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The following table summarizes the changes in stock appreciation rights in 2006:

Weighted
Number Average
of Stock Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Appreciation Average Contractual Intrinsic Value
Rights Exercise Price Term (in millions)
Stock appreciation rights outstanding, beginning of year............ — 5 —
Stock appreciation rights granted ............... 628,150 97.36 6.20
Stock appreciation rights cancelled........... (14,005) 97.56
Stock appreciation rights exercised..........ooreeeeereeecrcnenenrereneneenens — —
Stock appreciation rights outstanding, December 31, 2006 ....ccuunne 614,145 § 97.36 620 % —
Stock appreciation rights vested and expected to vest at
December 31, 2006 e 579,386 $ 97.36 620 % —

Stock appreciation rights exercisable, December 31, 2006 .......cvuiua. — 8 —

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s
closing stock price on the last trading day of 2006 of $87.70 and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of share-based
awards) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their stock appreciation rights on
December 31, 2006. This amount changes over time based on changes in the fair market value of the Company’s stock.

The following table summarizes the changes in restricted stock units in 2006:

Weighted
Number of Weighted Average
Restricted Average Remaining
Stock Units Exercise Price Term
Restricted stock units outstanding, beginning of year.............. —  $ —
Restricted stock units granted 60,661 0.00 3.20
Restricted stock units cancelled.........cocvvveinineicnniiiiiiinns (538) —
Restricted stock Units eXercised . ..o i rirceearmreeceeeeeeeenerermesecse s s re s e sececeesesmes — —
Restricted stock units outstanding, December 31,2006 ............ 60,123 § 0.00 3.20
Restricted stock units vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2006 .....ccovvcvcininnnn 55952 % 0.00 3.20

Restricted stock units exercisable, December 31, 2006 ........cocovvevevimsinesinssssssisssssssssssssenns — § —

A total of 60,661 restricted stock units were granted in 2006 at a weighted average fair value of $94.78 per share,

At December 31, 2006, $43.5 million of total estimated unrecognized compensation cost related to share-based compensation is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately two years.

6. Acquisitions

In September 2005, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and technology of the Executive Performance Group
(“EPG”) to support the launch of the Shared Services Roundtable membership program. Under the terms of the EPG acquisition
agreement, the initial purchase price of $8.2 million will be increased if certain furure business operating conditions are achieved
on or before December 31, 2008. Any additional payments would be recorded as a purchase price adjustment. The Company
has included the results of operations of the EPG business from the date of the acquisition. Pro forma financial information
for this acquisition has not been presented, as the effects were not material to the Company’s historical consolidated financial
statements.
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7. Marketable securities

The aggregate market value, amortized cost, gross unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale marketable

securities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2005
Gross Gross
Market Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Value Cost Gains Losses
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds $ 75,106 $ 76,107 $ 146 $ 1,147
Washington, D.C., tax-exempt notes and bonds ... 45,254 43,860 1,394 —
Total marketable seCUTItIES ... .uccirrirerrsserersssererssserimsseseaisene $ 120,360 $ 119,967 3 1,540 $ 1,147
December 31, 2006
Gross Gross
Market Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Value Cost Gains Losses
LS. Treasury notes and bonds ... § 272,160 $ 273,853 5 $ 1,694
Washington, D.C., tax-exempt notes and bonds ..o 43,760 42,788 973 1
Total marketable SECUTIties. ... $ 315,920 $ 316,641 $ 974 $ 1,695
The following table summarizes marketable securities maturities (in thousands}:
December 31, 2006
Fair Market Amortized
Value Cost
LeSS tham OME YEAT ...covrvreceer st s e R $ 119,534 $ 119,609
MALUZES I 1 05 YEALS .v.euieererrercecre e sss s e 180,332 181,511
MatUres in 6 t0 10 YRS .....cv e oo ss b nen 14,008 13,521
MatUres AfTEr L0 YEATS ..v.eeercreercccee e e e ene raen sesenes 2,046 2,000
Total Marketable SECUITEIES ......ocvoeiee ettt st e e saasemssannne $ 315,920 $ 316,641

The Company may elect not to hold these marketable securities to maturity and may elect to sell these securities at any time. In
2004, the sale of marketable securities resulted in gross realized investment gains of $0.7 million. In 2005, the sale of marketable
securities resulted in gross realized investment losses of $2.3 million. The Company did not sell any marketable securities in

2006.

8. Membership fees receivable

Membership fees receivable consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006
Billed $ 81,316 $ 115,022
Unbilled 39,8961 35,240
121,277 154,262
Reserve for uncollectible revenue (1,035} (1,155}

Membership fees receivable, net § 120,242

$_ 153,107
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9. Property and equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2005 2006
Furniture, fixtures, and eqUIPIMENT ... erssssssssssessessess st sssssss sttt $ 13,349 $ 14,574
Software and Web site develOpIment COSES ... s s 5,471 13,710
Leasehold IMPIOVEINEIILS .c..cre.. ettt sbs b s s sss s s e e ss s st bbb SRR RS 12,442 16,459

31,262 44,743
Accumulated depreciation e e e (12,861} (17,755)
Property and eqUIPIMENT, DEL vrereerrcererresssseseeseseesreeecse s essbanns $ 18,401 $ 26,988

Depreciation expense was $6.8 million, $7.1 million and $9.7 million in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Included in the amount
for 2004, is a charge of $1.2 million for a loss on the disposition of certain property and equipment.

10. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE vttt st em s e sne e aes e bR A bbb $ 3,149 $ 8,021
Advanced membership payments 1eceived.... ..t 12,023 21,976
Other 20eTUEd LHABIIES ...vvvevevssesserensececoeceeci et e s emetb s ss s s asa a6t 27,257 36,776
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .eeeeeeiccecnneeeine, $ 42,429 § 66,773

11. Lease restructuring costs

In August 2004, the Company entered into a twenty-year lease agreement for approximately 625,000 square feet of office space
in Rosslyn, Virginia beginning in early 2008. Contemporaneously with the signing of the Virginia office facilities lease, the
Company’s previous obligations for several existing office facility leases were assigned to, and assumed by, the lessor of the
Virginia office facilities. As a result, the Company recorded a $5.2 million, net non-cash lease restructuring charge composed of
the iterns further described below. The Company recorded a non-cash charge of $5.4 million which represents the Company’s
estimate of the lease incentives attributable to the assumption of the previous lease agreements by the new lessor. The Company
will recognize the $5.4 million accrued lease incentive on a straight-line basis as a reduction of rent expense over the term of
the Virginia office facilities lease. The Company also recorded a non-cash charge of $125,000 which represents our estimate of
certain restoration costs the Company may be required to pay for office space which the Company will no longer occupy. In
addition, the Company recorded a non-cash benefit of approximately $351,000 for the reversal of a portion of certain deferred
rent obligations that were previously being recognized over the life of the original lease term, resulting in constant rent expense
over the original lease term. The assumption of the lease agreements resulted in the reduction of the original lease term and,
therefore, the reversal of rent expense previously recognized for deferred rent abligations that the Company will no longer incur.
The total $5.2 million, net non-cash lease restructuring costs described above are included within “Non-cash lease restructuring
costs” in the 2004 consolidated statermnent of income.

In association with the lease agreement in August 2004, the Company also incurred additional external financial and legal
consulting costs to restructure existing lease agreements and the Company recorded $909,000 to expense certain deferred leasehold
improvement costs for office space that the Company will no longer occupy. These cash expenses and costs are included with
“General and administrative” expenses in the 2004 consolidated statement of income.
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In September 2005, the Company entered into an agreement whereby the existing lease for the Company’s headquarters in
Washington, D.C. was modified to terminate in early 2008, with some space terminating on July 31, 2006. As a result, the Company
recorded a $1.2 million, net lease restructuring charge composed of the items further described below. The Company incurred a
one time termination charge payable to the lessor in the amount of $775,000 as a result of the early termination. The Company
further recorded $667,000 in expense relating to the rental payments and operating expenses for the period from the date of the
agreement in September 2005 to July 2006 for the space that was exited on July 31, 2006. The termination of the lease agreements
resulted in the reduction of the original lease term and, therefore, the reversal of rent expense previously recognized for deferred
rent obligations that the Company will no longer incur. In addition, the Company recorded a non-cash benefit of approximately
$223,000 for the reversal of a portion of certain deferred rental obligations that were previously being recognized over the life
of the original lease term, resulting in constant rent expense over the original lease term. All amounts are included in “General
and administrative” expenses in the 2005 consolidated statement of income.

12. Income taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
Current tax EXPENSE .urivirsnieniran OO 18,643 $ 23,801 % 36,394
Deferred tax eXPense.. i ieimiersecsesesssrsesessemesasseaaessesssesnces 8,086 14,749 13,167
Provision for income taxes........... $ 26,729 $ 38,550 $ 49,561

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income taxes determined by applying the U.S. federal income tax
statutory rates to income before provision for income taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate .....ococevrneneereneneeneceeaens 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income tax, net of U.S. federal income tax benefit.......oreemeerirenmrerrnssmreenersereenisees 0.4 — 3.9
Foreign income tax HeestetesteseesesiseestenteatereseAIRSAeAYOLIRE SN e EeATeh et e e a et e banes 0.3 (0.1) —_
Permanent differences and credits, NEl . (2.4) {1.0) (0.4)
EffECtiVe 18X TALE. . vvrirnrininiiesnesssss e srss s sesssse s e ss e ss e s s et s b s bd s sas bbb sbabe 33.3% 33.9% 38.5%

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities consist of the following
(in thousands):

December 31,
2005 2006
Deferred tax assets:
TAX CTedIt CArTY FOrWAIAS oo s ss s e ns s s e s ea st st s $ 8455 $ 9317
YO LR e E T D0 oY ot T o DO OO - 8,493
Accrued INCENTIVE COMPENSATION ..vvveveirreeieecrre ettt sttt sb e s bbb 4,451 7.533
Deferred reVEIUE. ... e ettt 2,652 3,514
D EPIeCiatiDn. . r s seeresesmssrsesnssesssnssesesns s s arassssanass 1,407 3,178
Deferred compensation plan......ooevevnennnnnns 534 3,066
Non-cash lease INCENTIVE ..o, w“ 2,465 2,417
Operating leases................. 1,489 650
Other cooee e e 1,384 1,382
TOTAL AETEITEA LAX ASSELS oot ee e e e e s ems e s s s s emsaasssstsbsesssmsassassesesbasesbeensnassssmbsmsaamsambamsansann 22,837 39,550
Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred incentive COMPENSAtION v i iarsrssirsisanssssisnmsaas s asases s setassessebe bt sasb e bbb bbb b s anb st tas s ssisttass 4,469 5,119
OHBEE ettt st a s a e e A AR OO 4RO R SRRSO RO RO RO R E AR ARt et 386 605
Total deferred tax HabIlItIEs . ...iiiiiisiisiiciiisissis s iss s sis st ssssssiisissos e bbb bbbt ssbesbssbbsbbesbesbeab s e b b e sbasssessssnsnsonss 4,855 5,724

(3,144 (5,821)
S_ 14838  $_ 28005

Valuation allowance .........ccoooeveeeeeeevennen.

Deferred tax assets, D€t vviicermrmrnrrnnens
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In estimating future tax consequences, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”
(“FAS 109”) generally considers all expected future events in the determination and valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities.
The Company believes that its future taxable income will be sufficient for the full realization of the net deferred income tax assets.
However, FAS 109 does not consider the effect of future changes in existing tax laws or rates in the determination and valuation
of deferred tax assets and liabilities until the new tax laws or rates are enacted.

The Company has realized current tax benefits (reductions of taxes payable) resulting from the use of net operating loss carry
forwards of $14.9 million, $13.3 million and $0 in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

The Company has tax credit carry forwards which have resulted in deferred tax assets of $8.5 million and $9.3 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Included within these tax credit amounts at December 31, 2005 and 2006 are federal
and Washington, D.C. income tax credits of $7.4 million and $9.3 million, respectively, which expire in the years 2011 through
2016 and federal income tax credits of $1.1 million and zero, respectively, that do not expire. At December 31, 2006, the Company
has recorded a $5.8 million valuation allowance relating to certain tax credit carry forwards from our status as a QHTC that may
not be realized. See “Washington, D.C. income tax incentives” below.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately $1.4 million, $3.2 million and $5.5
million at December 31,2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Those earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested; accordingly,
no provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon repatriation of those earnings, in the
form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign
tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to the various foreign countries. Determination of the amount of unrecognized
deferred U.S. income tax liability is not practicable due to the complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation; however,
unrecognized foreign tax credit carry forwards would be available to reduce some portion of the U.S. liability. Withholding taxes
of approximately $0.4 million would be payable upon remittance of all previously unremitted earnings at December 31, 2006.

Washington, D.C. income tax incentives

The Office of Tax and Revenue of the Government of the District of Columbia (the “Office of Tax and Revenue”) has adopted
regulations in accordance with the New E-Conomy Transformation Act of 2000 (the “Act”) that modify the income and franchise
tax, sales and use tax and personal property tax regulations, effective April 2001. Specifically, the regulations provide certain credits,
exemptions and other benefits to a Qualified High Technology Company (“QHTC”). In October 2003, the Company received
notification from the Office of Tax and Revenue that its certification as a QHTC under the Act had been accepted. As a QHTC,
the Company’s Washington, D.C. statutory income tax rate was 0.0% through 2005 and is 6.0% thereafter. The Company is also
eligible for certain Washington, D.C. income tax credits and other benefits.

13. Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as net income (loss) plus the net-of-tax impact of foreign currency items and unrealized
gains and losses on marketable securities. Comprehensive income in 2004, 2005 and 2006, was $51.1 million, $73.2 million and
$78.9 million, respectively. The accumulated elements of other comprehensive loss, net of tax, included within stockholders’ equity
on the consolidated balance sheets are composed primarily of unrealized losses on available-for-sale marketable securities and
foreign currency translation adjustments. Unrealized losses, net of tax, on available-for-sale marketable securities amounted to
$(2.6) million, $(1.4) million and $(0.3) million in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The tax benefit associated with unrealized
losses on available-for-sale marketable securities included within comprehensive income (loss) is $(1.4) million, $(0.7) million,
and $(0.4) million in 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively.

14. Employee benefit plans

Defined contribution 401(k) plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “Plan”) in which the Company’s employees participate. Pursuant
to the Plan, all employees who have reached the age of twenty-one are eligible to participate. Prior to December 31, 2006, the
Company provided a discretionary contribution equal to 25% of an employee’s contribution up to a maximum of 4% of base
salary. Contributions to the Plan were $0.7 million, $0.8 million and $1.1 million in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

Employee stock purchase plan

The Company sponsors an employee stock purchase plan (the “ESPP”) for all eligible employees. Under the ESPP, employees
authorize payroll deductions from 1% to 10% of their eligible compensation to purchase shares of the Company’s common
stock. The total shares of the Company’s common stock authorized for issuance under the ESPP is 1,050,000. Under the plan,
shares of the Company’s common stock may be purchased over an offering period, typically three months, at 85% of the lower
of the fair market value on the first day of the applicable offering period or on the last day of the three month purchase period.
In 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company issued 22,144 shares, 24,956 shares and 26,875 shares of common stock, respectively, under
the ESPP. At December 31, 2006, approximately 0.9 million shares were available for issuance.
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Deferred compensation plan

Effective July 1,2005, the Company implemented a Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Plan™) for certain employees and members
of the Board of Directors to provide an opportunity to defer compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Plan provides for deferred
amounts to be credited with investment returns based upon investment options selected by participants from alternatives
designated from time to time by the plan administrative committee. Investment earnings associated with the Plan’s assets are
included in Other income, net while changes in individual participant account balances are recorded as compensation expense in
the consolidated statements of income. The Plan also allows the Company to make discretionary contributions at any time based
on individual or overall Company performance, which may be subject to a different vesting schedule than elective deferrals, and
provides that the Company will make up any 401(k) plan match that is not credited to the participant’s 401(k) account due to
his or her participation in the Plan. The Company has established a trust to hold assets utilized by the Company to pay benefits
under the Plan. The Company did not make any discretionary contributions to the Plan in 2005 and 2006.

15. Public offerings and sales of common stock

In May 2004, certain of the Company’s shareholders sold 1.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock in a registered public
offering. In March 2005 and 2006, 1.3 million and 0.9 million shares, respectively, of the Company’s common stock were sold
in transactions that were exempt from registration. The common stock sold in the foregoing transactions consisted primarily of
common stock obtained by employees and directors from the exercise of Company common stock options. The Company did
not directly receive any proceeds from the sale of its common stock; however, it did receive cash from the exercise of the common
stock options in May 2004 and March 2005.

16. Share-based compensation plans

Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan

In October 1997, the Company adopted and its stockholders approved the Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan (the “1997
Plan”}. The 1997 Plan provides for the issuance of options to purchase up to 11,008,000 shares of common stock. Any shares of
common stock which, for any reason, are not issued under the 1997 Plan are reserved for issuance pursuant to the 1999 Stock
Option Plan (the “1999 Plan™). At December 31, 2006, 10,569,400 options, net of cancellations, to purchase common stock had
been granted under the 1997 Plan and 438,600 options, net of cancellations, to purchase common stock had been granted under
the 1999 Plan. The Options granted under the 1997 Plan expired in April 2003,

1999 Stock Option Plan

InFebruary 1999, the Company adopted and the stockholders approved the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Plan™).In December
2006, the Company amended the 1999 Plan to address new guidance regarding equity restructurings under FAS 123(R). The
1999 Plan provides for the issuance of options to purchase up to 3,784,000 shares of common stock plus any options to purchase
shares of common stock which, for any reason, are not issued under the 1997 Plan. The options granted under the 1997 Plan
subsequently expired in April 2003. During 2004, the Company granted 97,197 options to purchase common stock under the
1999 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $46.88 per share. During 2005 and 2006, the Company granted no options to
purchase common stock under the 1999 Plan. As of December 31, 2006, 4,125,836 options, net of cancellations and including
438,600 shares of common stock carried over from the 1997 Plan, had been granted under the 1999 Plan. The common stock
options granted under the 1999 Plan generally become exercisable 25% per year beginning one year from the date of grant and
expire between February 2009 and March 2013. As more fully described in the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”) section
below, in July 2004, Company stockholders approved the new 2004 Plan. With stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan, the 1999
Plan was suspended and no new grants will be made under the 1999 Plan. Stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan terminated the
Company’s ability to issue 25,750 options remaining under the 1999 Plan.

2001 Stock Option Plan

In June 2001, the Company adopted and the stockholders approved the 2001 Stock Option Plan (the “2001 Plan”). In December
2006, the Company amended the 2001 Plan to address new guidance regarding equity restructurings under FAS 123(R}). The
2001 Plan provides for the issuance of options to purchase up to 2,700,000 shares of common stock. During 2004, the Company
granted 512,803 options to purchase common stock under the 2001 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $45.10 per share,
During 2005 and 2006, the Company granted no options to purchase commeon stock under the 2001 Plan. At December 31,
2006, 1,892,803 options, net of cancellations, had been granted under the 2001 Plan. The common stock options granted under
the 2001 Plan generally become exercisable 25% per year beginning one year from the date of grant and expire between March
2011 and March 2013. As more fully described in the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”) section below, in July 2004,
Company stockholders approved the new 2004 Plan. With stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan, the 2001 Plan was suspended
and no new grants will be made under the 2001 Plan. Stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan terminated the Company’s ability
to issue 807,197 options remaining under the 2001 Plan.
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2002 Non-Executive Stock Incentive Plan

In March 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 Non-Executive Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2002 Plan”). In December
2006, the Company further amended the 2002 Plan to address new guidance regarding equity restructurings under FAS 123(R).
The 2002 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 7,300,000 shares of common stock under stock options or restricted stock grants.
Any person who is an employee or prospective employee of the Company is eligible for the grant of awards under the 2002 Plan,
unless such person is an officer or director of the Company. The terms of awards granted under the 2002 Plan, including vesting,
forfeiture and post termination exercisability are set by the plan administrator, subject to certain restrictions set forth in the
2002 Plan. During 2004, the Company granted 769,500 options to purchase common stock under the 2002 Plan at a weighted
average exercise price of $45.16 per share. During 2005 and 2006, the Company granted no options to purchase common stock
under the 2002 Plan. At December 31, 2006, 2,631,750 options, net of cancellations, had been granted under the 2002 Plan. The
common stock options granted under the 2002 Plan generally become exercisable 25% per year beginning one year from the
date of grant and expire between March 2011 and September 2013. As more fully described in the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the
“2004 Plan”) section below, in July 2004, Company stockholders approved the new 2004 Plan. With stockholder approval of the
2004 Plan, the 2002 Plan was suspended and no new grants will be made under the 2002 Plan. Stockholder approval of the 2004
Plan terminated the Company’s ability to issue 4,497,625 options remaining under the 2002 Plan.

2004 Stock Incentive Plan

In July 2004, the Company adopted and the stockholders approved the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), which
provides for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, deferred stock unitsand
incentive bonuses. In August 2005, the stockholders approved amendments to the 2004 Plan to include grants to non-employee
directors, which amendments are further described below. In December 2006, the Company further amended the 2004 Plan to
address new guidance regarding equity restructurings under FAS 123(R).

The 2004 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 4,000,000 shares of common stock plus any shares subject to outstanding
awards under the 1999 Plan, the 2001 Plan, or the 2002 Plan that, on or after June 11, 2004, cease for any reason to be subject to
such awards {other than by reason of exercise or settlement of the awards to the extent they are exercised for or settled in vested
and non-forfeitable shares), up to an aggregate maximum of 9,400,000 shares. With stockholder approval of the 2004 Stock
Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan™}, the 1999 Plan, the 2001 Plan and the 2002 Plan were suspended and no new grants will be made
under the 1999 Plan, 2001 Plan or 2002 Plan. Stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan terminated the Company’s ability to issue
approximately 5.3 million opticns under the 1999 Plan, 2001 Plan and 2002 Plan. During 2004, the Company granted 86,000
options to purchase common stock under the 2004 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $56.15 per share. During 2005,
the Company granted 1,387,500 options to purchase common stock under the 2004 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of
$66.89 per share. During 2006, the Company granted 628,150 stock appreciation rights at a weighted average exercise price of
$97.36 per share. The Company also granted 60,661 restricted stock units during 2006. At December 31, 2006, 2,046,020 options,
stock appreciation rights and restricted stock units, net of cancellations, had been granted under the 2004 Plan. The common
stock options, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock units granted under the 2004 Plan generally become exercisable 25%
per year beginning one year from the date of grant and expire between July 2011 and August 2013.

In August 2005, the Company adopted and the stockholders approved amendments (the “Plan Amendments”) to the 2004
Plan. The Plan Amendments permit non-employee directors (meaning persons who are or have been elected to be members
of the Board of Directors and who are not employees of the Company or any subsidiary) to participate in the 2004 Plan; place
annual limits on the size of awards that may be granted to non-employee directors under which the aggregate number of shares
of common stock subject to stock options and stock appreciation rights granted to a non-employee director may not exceed
30,000 (or 12,000 with respect to other types of awards), except that a non-employee director may receive up to 200% of such
amounts in the year in which he or she first joins the Board; and provide that, for purposes of counting the number of shares
issued under the 2004 Plan, shares retained by or delivered to the Company to pay the exercise price or withholding taxes arising
under an award and unissued shares resulting from the settlement of stock appreciation rights in stock or net settlement of a
stock option do not again become available for issuance as future awards under the 2004 Plan. Other than the changes described
above, the Plan Amendments do not alter or change any terms of the 2004 Plan.

Directors’ Stock Option Plan

In December 1998, the Company adopted and the stockholders approved the Directors’ Stock Plan (the “Directors’ Plan”),
which provides for the issuance of options to purchase up to 860,000 shares of common stock. Effective January 1, 2006, stock
incentives granted to non-employee members of our Board of Directors are accounted for under the provisions of FAS 123(R),
as more fully discussed in “Note 5. Share-based compensation.” Prior to the adoption of FAS 123(R), these stock incentives were
accounted for under the provisions of APB 25 pursuant to FASB Interpretation 44, “Accounting for Certain Transactions involving
Stock Compensation—an interpretation of APB Opinion No, 25.” [n December 2006, the Company amended the Directors’
Plan to address new guidance regarding equity restructurings under FAS 123(R). During 2004, the Company granted 120,000
options to purchase common stock under the Directors’ Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $50.75 per share. During
2005, the Company granted 30,000 options to purchase common stock under the Directors’ Plan at a weighted average exercise
price of $64.88 per share. During 2006, the Company granted no options to purchase common stock under the Directors’ Plan.
At December 31, 2006, 808,680 options, net of cancellations, to purchase common stock had been granted under the Directors’
Plan., The common stock options granted under the Directors’ Plan generally become 100% exercisable one year from the date
of grant and expire between December 2008 and October 2013,
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17. Supplemental cash flow disclosures

In 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company recognized $15.2 million, $15.5 million and $46.5 million, respectively, in stockholders’
equity for excess tax deductions associated with share-based payment arrangements related to the exercise of non-qualified
common stock options and disqualifying dispositions of incentive stock options. In 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company made
income tax payments of approximately $0.6 million, $0.8 million, and $9.0 million, respectively.

18. Commitments and contingencies

Operating leases

The Company leases office facilities in the United States, United Kingdom and India expiring on various dates through 2027. In
the second quarter of 2006, the Company entered into a new lease agreement for additional office space in the United Kingdom.
In the third quarter of 2006, the Company entered into new lease agreements for additional office space in Washington, D.C. The
expiration of the new Washington, D.C. leases will coincide with the Company’s move to the new Rosslyn, Virginia headquarters
in early 2008. In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company entered into new lease agreements for additional office locations in
Chicago, Illinois and San Francisco, California. The Chicago office lease is for a seven year term with total lease payments of
$6.2 million. The San Francisco lease is for a three year term with total lease payments of $0.4 million. Certain lease agreements
include provisions for rental escalations and require the Company to pay for executory costs such as taxes and insurance, Future
minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases, excluding executory costs, are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2007 e $ 21,186
2008 .o PO 27,344
2009 e T TOURPPON 31,996
2010 iiiitiiitimre e eesessemese s sa st t s sas s e s RS R RO R e e nne 31,807
2011 31,592
Thereafter 452,408

TOAl crvrvrrrererrerssse sttt eees $ 596,333

The increase in the future commitments is primarily due to the lease payments for the new United Kingdom lease for additional
office space mentioned above for which payments will begin in 2007 for a term of twelve years. Pursuant to the terms of the
Rosslyn, Virginia lease, the Company has the option to accelerate the date at which it obtains control of a portion of the leased
property, which would increase the rental payments discussed above.

Rent expense in 2004, 2005 and 2006, was $9.3 million, $13.3 million and $15.1 million, respectively. The Company has entered
into letter of credit agreernents of $2.4 million, $0.7 million, $0.5 million and $21,000 to provide security deposits for certain office
space leases. The letters of credit expire January 2008, June 2007, August 2007 and May 2007, respectively, but will automatically
extend for another year from their expiration dates, unless the Company terminates them. To date, no amounts have been drawn
on these agreements. Under the terms of the Rosslyn, Virginia lease agreement, the Company has committed to providing the
landlord security deposits totaling $50 million. The Company has pledged $50 million of long-term marketable securities to the
landlord as collateral for this obligation.

From time to time, the Company is subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its normal business operations. The
Company is not currently a party to, and the Company’s property is not subject to, any material legal proceedings.

The Company continues to evaluate potential tax exposures relating to sales and use, payroll, income, and property tax laws and
regulations for various states in which the Company sells or supports its goods and services. Accruals for potential contingencies
are recorded by the Company when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the liability can be reasonably estimated.
As additional information becomes available, changes in the estimates of the liability are reported in the period that those changes
occur. The Company has accrued a liability of approximately $4.1 million at December 31, 2006. The Company paid $3.3 million
in January 2007 to resolve sales and use tax obligations in various states.




19. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)
Unaudited summarized financial data by quarter for 2005 and 2006 is as follows (in thousands, except per-share amounts):

REVEIIUES ..ottt sra s sraenesrasraennanas

Gross Profite. s

Income before provision for income taxes

NETINCOMIE ...t eeeeee et veneas

Earnings per share:

BaSIC. ..o

Diluted

Revenues

Gross profit

Income before provision for income taxes

Net income

Earnings per share:

Basic

Diluted

20. Subsequent events
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2005 Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
81,608 87,351 $ 93,432 $ 99,835
55,214 57,263 62,357 66,448
25,777 25,633 29,469 32,731
17,142 17,046 $ 19,597 5 21275
0.44 0.43 $ 0.49 $ 0.54
0.42 0.41 $ 0.47 $ 0.52
2006 Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
105,069 111,662 $ 118,390 $ 125502
67,609 72,603 75,633 80,756
27,835 28,883 34,328 37,686
17,119 17,763 $ 21,112 $ 23,177
0.43 0.44 $ 0.53 $ 0.59
0.42 0.43 $ 0.52 $ 0.58

In February 2007, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.40 per share. The dividend is payable on March
30,2007 to stockholders of record at the close of business on March 9, 2007. The Company will fund its dividend payments with
cash on hand and cash generated from operations.

In February 2007, the Company entered into an agreement with The Advisory Board Company to collaborate on several projects
specific to the companies’ respective best practice research programs. [n addition to structuring terms for the companies to license
certain research content from each other, the agreement sets a framework for collaboration to enhance service to the firms’ existing
and prospective members. The agreement also outlines several potential areas for new product development collaboration. To
facilitate the open sharing of information required for the collaboration, the agreement also includes a non-compete provision
covering traditional best practice research programs.
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT’S ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements appearing in our Annual
Report. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States and include amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments. All other financial information in this
report has been presented on a basis consistent with the information included in the consolidated financial statements.

Managementis also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. We maintain
a system of internal control that is designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliable preparation and presentation of
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as well as to safeguard assets
from unauthorized use or disposition.

Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal control over financial reporting and is reflected in our Code
of Ethics for Directors, Executives and Employees. It sets the tone of our organization and includes factors such as integrity and
ethical values. Qur internal control over financial reporting is supported by formal policies and procedures which are reviewed,
modified and improved as changes occur in business conditions and operations.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of cutside directors, meets periodically with members
of management and the independent auditors to review and discuss internal control over financial reporting and accounting and
financial reporting matters. The independent registered public accounting firm reports to the Audit Committee and accordingly
has full and free access to the Audit Committee at any time.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,2006
based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness
of controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Based on this evaluation,
management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Ernst & Young LLP,an independent registered publicaccounting firm, has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment
of internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

Ao e _ ENE

Thomas L. Monahan 111 Timothy R. Yost
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
March 1, 2007 March 1, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The Corporate Executive Board Company:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Report of Management’s Assessment of Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting that The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The
Corporate Executive Board Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’sinternal control over financial reporting isa process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO
criteria. Also, in our opinion, The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects,
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2006 and 2005 and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2006 of The Corporate Executive Board Company and Subsidiaries, and our report dated
February 23, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Banct ¢ Mur

Baltimore, Maryland
February 23, 2007
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The Corporate Executive Board Company:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts
for stock-based compensation upon adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment” on January 1, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of The Corporate Executive Board Company and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23, 2007 expressed an unqualified
opinicn thereon.

M*Mu?

Baltimore, Maryland
February 23, 2007
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Form 10-K/Investor Contact
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Report on Form 10-K and other investor contacts should be directed to Timothy R. Yost, Chief Financial Officer, at the Company’s corporate office.
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stock since the closing of its initial public offering,
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The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company’s common
the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock for the past five years through Decemnber 31, 2006, with the cumulative total return on the
stock as reported on the NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. Goldman Sachs Services Index and the NASDAQ Global Select Market Composite Index (formerly,

the NASDAQ National Market Composite Index) for the same period. The graph assumes that $100

was invested in the Company’s common stock and in each of the other indexes on December 31,

2001, and that any dividends were reinvested. The comparisons in the graph below are based on

historical data and are not intended to forecast the possible future performance of the Company’s

common stock.
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- NASDAG Global Sefect Market Compesite Index?
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First Quarter $ 103.18 $150
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! Companies included in the Geoldman Sachs Services Index as of December 31, 2006, were Accenture Lid., Affiliated Computer Services, Inc., Amdocs Lid., Automatic Data Processing, Inc., BearingPoint,
Inc., The BISYS Graup, Inc., CAC! Internetional Ine, Ceridian Corp., CheckFres Corparation, ChoicePoint Inc., Cognizant Technology Solutions Corp., Computer Sciences Corp., Cenvergys Corp., CSG
Systems Internationel, Inc., DST Systems, Inc., Electronic Dot Systems Corp., Euronet Worldwide, Inc., Fidelity National Information Services, Inc., First Daia Corp., Fisery, Inc., Global Payments Inc.,
Hewitt Associates, Inc., Keone, Inc., MosterCard Inc., Met 1 UEPS Technologies, Inc., Paychex, Inc., Perot Systems Corp., Sabre Holdings Corp., SAIC, Inc., SRA Internaticnal, Inc., Syniverse Holdings, Inc.,
Transaction Systems Architects, Inc., Unisys Corp., The Western Union Company and Wright Express Corporalion.

2 Beginning July 2004, the NASDAQ National Market Composite Index, which CEB has presented in this stock pecformance graph in prier years, ceased being disseminaled by NASDAQ. The index's
historical data was retained and corried forword 1o o newly created index called the NASDAQ Global Select Market Composite Index [index identifier: NGGS).
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